
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Lisa Warrillow, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207064 

Email: democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk 

(i) 

 

 

Wednesday, 27 April 2011 
 

SCHOOLS FORUM 
 

A meeting of Schools Forum will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 4 May 2011 
 

commencing at 9.00 am 
 

The meeting will be held in the Ballroom, Oldway Mansion, Torquay Road, 
Paignton, TQ3 2TE 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our vision is for a cleaner, safer, prosperous Bay 



(ii) 

SCHOOLS FORUM 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies/Changes to Membership 

 
 

2.   Minutes  
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on  

 
3.   Matters Arising 

 
 

4.   Comparison of School Allocations 2011/12 with 2010/11 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 Schools Forum to note. 

 
5.   2010/11 Dedicated Schools Grant Outturn  
 Verbal report. 

 
6.   Proposed Closure of Chestnut Primary School (Pages 7 - 8) 
 Schools Forum to discuss. 

 
7.   Schools Financial Value Standard (Pages 9 - 

14)  Schools Forum to discuss. 
 

8.   A Consultation on School Funding Reform: Rationale and 
Principles 

(Pages 15 - 
56) 

 Schools Forum to note. 
 

9.   Academies' Pre-16 Funding: Options for the 2012/13 Academic 
Year 

(Pages 57 - 
62) 

 Schools Forum to discuss. 
 

10.   Equal Pay Claims DSG Reserve  
 Verbal report 

 
11.   Future Meeting Dates  
 Thursday 30 June 2011 

Thursday 11 November 2011 
 



  
 
 

Comparison of School Allocations 2011/12 with 2010/11 
 
1.  General Introduction 
The attached paper compares last year’s allocations with this year’s.  However as the 
DSG now incorporates a range of former grant income a true comparison is not possible. 
But where it is useful comparisons have been undertaken and the percentage change 
has been shown. 
 
2. Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) for 2011/12 
The DfE has set MFG at a level that covers average cost pressures but with efficiencies 
taken into account.  MFG for all schools is set at minus 1.5% to ensure that no school 
has a cut in its allocation of more than 1.5% per pupil before pupil premium is added. 
 
3. The 2011/12 Funds Allocation Statement 
The individual “Funds Allocation” for Schools has been derived using the Funding 
Formula, which is fully described, in Section 2 of the Scheme for Financing Schools.  
 
The data, formula factors and unit values that are used within each sub formula were 
provided to each school in their 11th March emailed notification. 
 
4. Inflators applied to each formula 
In overall terms, the funding resource from DfE has remained the same as 2010/11, 
therefore there has not been any inflation applied to any formula.  £50k has been added 
to primary and special school meals and formulae allocations have changed to reflect 
need such as the premises formula where overall, floor area has increased due to new 
school buildings. 
 
5. Key Points to Note about the Formulae 
 
5.1 Newly Qualified Teachers 
The funding for this in 10/11 was £177k; this funding is now allocated via the AWPU and 
therefore allocated based upon pupil numbers. 
 
5.2 Maternity/Paternity/Adoption Leave 
This budget of £73k was allocated in February /March each year to those schools whose 
teaching staff had taken such leave.  For 11/12 onwards this sum has been included in 
the AWPU and allocated based upon pupil numbers. 
 
5.3 Premises and Facilities 
This formula now only takes into account age/type of the buildings plus floor area of the 
school buildings and the site area.  Temporary buildings are no longer included. 
 
5.4 School Meals 
The £50k referred to in para 5. has been added to the primary school element formula to 
recognise the increased cost of meals. 
 
5.5 Delegated Statementing 
Each school has received a statementing allocation, excluding enhanced provision, 
based upon information notified to the Finance team as at 3rd March 2011. The 
bandings have not been inflated.  
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



6. AWPU Values 2011/12 
The Activity Led Resourcing methodology which is fully described in Section 2 of the 
Scheme for Financing Schools, generates the AWPU values for each Key Stage  
together with a School Specific Lump Sum for each phase, based on assumptions made 
on resourcing levels to effectively deliver teaching and learning.  
 

Primary Secondary 
Fixed 
Element 

Foundation Reception Key 
Stage 1 

Key 
Stage 2 

Fixed 
Element 

Key 
Stage 3 

Key 
Stage 4 

58,506 N/A  2,349 2,037 1,952 122,133 2,757 2,889 

 
The above figures have been subject to a scaling factor to bring need in line with 
available resources: 
 
The scaling factors are:- Primary – 60.4% 

Secondary – 68.7% 
 
7.  Mainstreaming of Grants 
A large number of grants are included in Torbay’s DSG and as such fall within the scope 
of the School Finance (England) Regulations 2011.  These regulations have been 
modified to enable the historic allocation methods to be included in the school funding 
formula. All affected grants are laid out below with more detail available in Section 2 of 
the Scheme for Financing Primary and Secondary Schools 2011/12. 
 
School Standards Grant - £2.9m currently allocated on two formulae . This has led to 
some schools having much higher per pupil amounts than other schools. Therefore the  
allocation will use the old formula A which is a lump sum per school then a fixed per 
pupil amount for primary and secondary. This will mean that most schools will see little 
change.  
 
School Standards Grant ( Personalisation)  £0.9m is allocated on same formula as 
10/11 using pupil number and FSM data from Jan 2011 census plus attainment data. 
 
School Development Grant  £3.7m includes a range of 11 previous grants. Specialist 
School funding , £1.3m, is the largest element of this grant and will be allocated using 
the same funding methodology the same as 10/11. One of the other 10  grants was 
funding for AST (£300k). An element of this funding is retained centrally to allocate out to 
specific schools for AST outreach. 
 
The remainder of SDG is allocated using the same methodology as 10/11 with the 
exception of that associated with the secondary Post Leadership Incentive Grant (LIG) 
funding that was received by Torquay Community College  and Westlands. For 2011/12 
£121k of this funding is allocated across all Secondaries based upon FSM numbers.  For 
2012/13 the full £240k will be allocated across all Secondaries in the same way. 
    
School Lunch Grant. £193k is distributed to schools on FSM numbers with £7k 
retained centrally for encouraging uptake initiatives such as the recent £1 a meal deal at 
Kings Ash primary. 
 
Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant  £51k is distributed by the number of ethnic 
minority pupils from the January census.  
 

Page 2



1:2:1 Tuition £632k the same allocation methodology used in 10/11 based on school 
size and number of pupils achieving at below age expected level in 2010/11. £20k is 
retained centrally. 
 
Extended Services - Sustainability. £467k . £250k to be used to provide centrally 
accessed services such as family support, parenting support workers and targeted youth 
support workers. This is in line with School Forum agreement in November 2010. £200k 
to be delegated to schools via pupil numbers.  
 
Extended Services - Subsidy £510k. In 2010/11 this was partly spent commissioning 
targeted activities and part delegated on FSM numbers. For 2011/12 all this funding is 
allocated on the number of pupils registered as eligible for free school meals.  
 
Primary Strategy £613k . This encompasses a whole range of grant funding streams 
such as Primary FL , Targeted schools, AfL, CLLD, SEAL, EY Foundation and Leading 
teachers  also the Every Child schemes. This funding has been allocated  centrally on a 
range of activities across the whole primary phase.  
 
For 2011/12 £300k will be spent centrally on agreed programmes across Torbay primary 
phase. £313k is delegated to schools to enable participation in school priority activities 
and cross phase activities with other schools. 
 
Secondary Strategy £193k of which £143k is delegated to schools via an in- house 
formula and £50k is retained for targeted support programmes across schools. 
 
8. Post 16 YPLA Funding 
The allocation for sixth forms is based solely upon information from the YPLA.  We have 
not received the allocations from them and as a result there is a zero entry in this field. 
 
9. Comparisons 
 
Pupil numbers   % Change 
Reception to pre 16       -3% 
Total Pupil Numbers   +0.1% 
 
 
AWPU and School Specific -0.2% 
 
Premises       3% 
 
Nursery      15% 
 
School Meals       4% 
 
Threshold     -7% 
 
Inclusion      0% 
 
Total Funding     4% 
But not a true comparison! 
 
Lisa Finn 
Finance Manager (Financial Services /Children’s Services) 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 C

O
M

P
A

R
I
S

O
N

 O
F

 S
C

H
O

O
L

 A
L

L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N
S

 2
0

1
1

/1
2

 W
I
T

H
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2

D
fE

S
S
c
h
o
o
l 
N

a
m

e
P
u
p
il

P
u
p
il

P
o
s
t 
1
6

N
u
rs

e
ry

N
O

R
N

O
R

A
W

P
U

A
W

P
U

 
 

N
N

D
R

1
-2

-1
B

u
il
d
in

g
s

A
d
m

is
s
io

n
R

e
c
o
v
e
ry

 o
f

P
o
s
t 
1
6

N
o
.

N
u
m

b
e
rs

N
u
m

b
e
rs

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

P
u
p
il

o
r 

P
o
s
t 
1
6

In
c
lu

d
n
g

T
o
ta

ls
D

if
fe

re
n
c
e

&
 S

c
h
o
o
l

&
 S

c
h
o
o
l

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

P
re

m
is

e
s

P
re

m
is

e
s

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

N
u
rs

e
ry

N
u
rs

e
ry

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

O
ff

-S
it
e

S
p
li
t

G
e
n
e
ra

l
S
c
h
o
o
l

S
c
h
o
o
l

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

T
u
it
io

n
T
h
re

s
h
o
ld

T
h
re

s
h
o
ld

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

In
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 V

A
 &

R
e
la

te
d

P
o
s
t 
1
6
 N

o
n
-

Y
P
L
A

In
c
lu

s
io

n
In

c
lu

s
io

n

N
O

R
N

O
R

N
o
s
.

N
o
s
.

P
o
s
t 
1
6

S
p
e
c
if
ic

S
p
e
c
if
ic

&
 F

a
c
il
it
ie

s
&

 F
a
c
il
it
ie

s
F
u
n
d
in

g
F
u
n
d
in

g
G

a
m

e
s

S
it
e
s

R
a
te

s
R

e
n
ts

M
e
a
ls

M
e
a
ls

E
x
 G

M
 S

c
h
ls

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s

A
W

P
U

 F
a
c
to

r
A

ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n

E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 S

IW
O

's
E
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 S

IW
O

's

J
a
n
-1

0
J
a
n
-1

1
J
a
n
-1

0
J
a
n
-1

1
J
a
n
-1

0
J
a
n
-1

1
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

2
4
0
7

F
u
rz

e
h
a
m

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 N

u
rs

e
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
5
.2

2
6
9

1
0
%

2
7
.3

2
4
5
.2

2
9
6
.3

5
1
5
,2

1
4

6
0
4
,4

5
9

1
7
%

6
5
,8

5
1

6
5
,1

7
3

-1
%

7
1
,1

8
0

6
9
,9

4
4

-2
%

2
0
,5

6
8

3
8

1
6
,9

8
1

1
9
,4

0
2

1
4
%

7
,8

7
5

2
9
,6

4
6

2
8
,7

6
3

-3
%

3
9
,8

1
8

2
9
,1

0
0

2
4
3
4

C
u
rl
e
d
g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

4
4
9

3
8
9

-1
3
%

2
7

4
4
9

4
1
6

9
1
7
,2

2
2

8
4
6
,4

9
5

-8
%

1
1
0
,5

4
0

9
1
,2

4
2

-1
7
%

8
5
,8

6
2

9
1
,7

9
6

7
%

6
,0

8
9

3
,5

7
0

2
0
,2

4
3

4
1

6
7
,0

9
2

6
5
,2

1
4

-3
%

2
4
,0

0
0

6
2
,8

3
1

6
1
,0

6
5

-3
%

1
6
0
,4

2
7

1
5
5
,7

5
4

2
4
3
8

O
ld

w
a
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

6
5
7
.1

6
3
6

-3
%

2
7
.5

6
5
7
.1

6
6
3
.5

1
,3

4
1
,3

1
3

1
,3

5
1
,0

0
8

1
%

1
1
5
,3

7
7

1
1
5
,0

0
5

0
%

8
1
,4

0
7

9
0
,8

5
6

1
2
%

2
5
,9

6
9

4
1
,8

2
0

4
0
,7

3
1

-3
%

1
6
,5

0
0

5
9
,7

3
4

5
6
,6

4
0

-5
%

6
9
,3

9
9

5
8
,1

1
7

2
4
3
9

W
h
it
e
 R

o
c
k
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

4
1
3

4
2
1

2
%

4
1
3

4
2
1

2
%

8
9
1
,8

2
5

9
1
4
,2

3
3

3
%

7
4
,9

9
6

8
1
,5

3
0

9
%

5
,9

7
5

1
3
7

2
5
,8

1
7

2
5
,8

6
8

0
%

1
3
,5

0
0

5
4
,8

6
7

5
2
,2

1
5

-5
%

2
,3

1
8

2
7
,4

1
5

2
2
,7

0
9

2
4
5
3

C
o
c
k
in

g
to

n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
8
8

3
9
0

1
%

3
8
8

3
9
0

1
%

8
4
3
,3

8
8

8
5
3
,7

2
1

1
%

6
3
,4

7
7

4
6
,7

9
7

-2
6
%

2
2
,9

4
9

5
6
,8

7
5

6
2
,9

0
5

1
1
%

1
5
,3

7
5

3
6
,7

2
5

3
6
,7

2
8

0
%

1
5
9
,9

6
4

1
4
3
,8

8
7

2
4
5
4

E
ll
a
c
o
m

b
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l

2
4
8

2
4
7

0
%

2
4
8

2
4
7

0
%

5
5
7
,1

1
6

5
6
2
,7

3
5

1
%

5
6
,2

4
0

5
5
,5

1
1

-1
%

3
,8

6
6

1
5
,2

6
3

6
3
,8

0
0

6
4
,7

9
3

2
%

1
1
,2

5
0

2
8
,7

6
1

2
4
,3

3
8

-1
5
%

1
8
5
,3

6
9

1
8
0
,0

8
5

2
4
5
5

H
o
m

e
la

n
d
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
3
1
.5

2
0
6

-1
1
%

2
5
.3

2
3
1
.5

2
3
1
.3

0
%

4
7
3
,7

7
2

4
7
7
,6

2
8

1
%

7
7
,1

4
0

8
4
,3

1
8

9
%

9
1
,6

2
0

8
4
,6

6
3

-8
%

2
2
,7

3
3

2
4
,5

5
1

2
7
,7

7
0

1
3
%

7
,5

0
0

1
7
,6

9
9

2
5
,2

2
3

4
3
%

3
1
,3

0
4

3
8
,1

3
4

2
4
5
6

S
t.
 M

a
rg

a
re

t'
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l

3
3
7

3
4
2

1
%

3
3
7

3
4
2

1
%

7
4
4
,2

6
1

7
5
4
,1

2
7

1
%

7
4
,2

4
9

7
8
,3

1
7

5
%

2
2
,4

5
1

5
1
,1

6
1

5
3
,0

9
0

4
%

9
,0

0
0

2
8
,2

3
0

2
8
,3

2
0

0
%

1
,9

8
6

1
1
1
,5

0
8

1
1
7
,1

9
5

2
4
6
0

W
a
tc

o
m

b
e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
3
5

2
0
3

-1
4
%

3
1
.4

2
3
5

2
3
4
.4

0
%

4
8
4
,0

4
3

4
7
2
,1

9
7

-2
%

8
9
,4

2
8

8
8
,2

0
7

-1
%

7
7
,1

5
3

1
2
5
,1

0
0

6
2
%

1
2
,0

1
6

4
7
,1

9
5

5
3
,6

0
6

1
4
%

7
,5

0
0

3
4
,5

1
3

4
1
,1

5
3

1
9
%

8
7
,3

9
9

9
6
,7

3
3

2
4
6
4

P
re

s
to

n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
1
3

3
1
3

0
%

3
1
3

3
1
3

0
%

6
9
1
,1

5
7

6
9
6
,2

1
6

1
%

5
6
,7

3
3

6
0
,4

3
0

7
%

1
0
,2

8
4

1
1
,8

1
4

1
7
,1

3
3

4
5
%

9
,3

7
5

2
4
,3

3
6

2
2
,1

2
5

-9
%

3
6
,0

5
9

3
7
,5

9
1

2
4
6
6

C
h
e
s
tn

u
t 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

1
0
1
.6

6
1

-4
0
%

8
.7

1
0
1
.6

6
9
.7

-3
1
%

2
4
3
,5

4
1

1
8
0
,2

7
1

-2
6
%

4
0
,5

2
0

4
3
,9

1
8

8
%

3
4
,4

4
7

3
0
,3

5
7

-1
2
%

2
0
,8

9
2

1
1
,6

0
9

1
1
,0

9
3

-4
%

5
,2

5
0

1
1
,5

0
4

8
,8

5
0

-2
3
%

2
3
,0

5
7

3
1
,6

1
6

2
4
6
8

S
h
ip

h
a
y
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 O

rc
h
a
rd

 N
u
rs

e
ry

4
2
2
.9

3
9
5

-7
%

3
1
.2

4
2
2
.9

4
2
6
.2

1
%

8
6
1
,9

2
5

8
6
3
,5

6
6

0
%

7
4
,9

5
5

7
5
,4

7
8

1
%

9
2
,6

7
4

1
0
6
,1

1
1

1
4
%

2
9
,8

7
7

2
5
,3

4
3

2
9
,5

9
1

1
7
%

1
0
,5

0
0

1
4
,6

0
2

2
0
,7

9
8

4
2
%

2
,3

4
0

6
5
,0

9
9

5
9
,2

1
0

2
4
6
9

S
h
e
rw

e
ll
 V

a
ll
e
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

6
3
0

6
1
9

-2
%

2
9
.4

6
3
0

6
4
8
.4

3
%

1
,2

9
0
,7

0
9

1
,3

1
7
,9

0
9

2
%

1
2
7
,5

3
5

1
2
8
,8

0
5

1
%

6
4
,8

8
9

9
6
,3

6
8

4
9
%

5
1
,0

9
4

3
9
,4

7
7

3
9
,7

8
3

1
%

1
9
,1

2
5

4
1
,5

9
2

4
0
,2

6
8

-3
%

9
3
,8

6
7

8
4
,2

1
6

2
4
7
3

R
o
s
e
la

n
d
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
3
7

2
2
2

-6
%

2
3
7

2
2
2

-6
%

5
3
9
,2

3
9

5
1
1
,0

7
1

-5
%

4
9
,1

1
9

4
5
,4

9
9

-7
%

1
3
,7

4
8

3
0
,2

4
6

2
9
,0

6
4

-4
%

7
,8

7
5

1
8
,1

4
1

1
8
,1

4
3

0
%

6
1
,0

0
9

6
0
,8

0
9

2
4
7
4

B
a
rt

o
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

4
2
3

4
1
7

-1
%

2
9
.8

4
2
3

4
4
6
.8

6
%

8
6
5
,7

1
3

9
1
2
,7

1
9

5
%

1
1
5
,8

5
2

1
1
3
,6

6
6

-2
%

9
3
,0

5
4

1
1
2
,0

2
4

2
0
%

6
,5

2
7

3
0
,0

1
5

9
4
,9

9
8

1
0
9
,5

1
2

1
5
%

1
5
,7

5
0

7
2
,5

6
6

6
8
,5

8
8

-5
%

2
8
5
,6

9
0

2
9
4
,3

0
2

3
1
0
3

B
ri
x
h
a
m

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
2
0
.4

2
0
2

-8
%

2
7
.1

2
2
0
.4

2
2
9
.1

4
%

4
5
9
,4

6
5

4
6
9
,7

3
5

2
%

5
5
,9

2
4

4
3
,7

9
7

-2
2
%

6
8
,1

4
9

8
6
,9

1
4

2
8
%

7
,3

2
3

1
3
,1

3
9

1
4
,2

3
4

8
%

7
,1

2
5

1
8
,5

8
4

1
3
,7

1
8

-2
6
%

3
8
,9

2
3

2
0
,7

7
3

3
1
1
9

Il
s
h
a
m

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

1
7
5

1
7
4

-1
%

1
7
5

1
7
4

-1
%

4
1
0
,8

7
1

4
1
2
,4

1
4

0
%

1
8
,6

1
3

1
9
,0

4
6

2
%

2
,7

2
3

6
,1

7
0

5
,9

6
6

1
2
,8

1
0

1
2
,6

8
7

-1
%

5
,6

2
5

1
0
,6

1
9

1
1
,5

0
5

8
%

2
3
,5

7
4

1
7
,8

3
6

3
1
2
0

U
p
to

n
 S

t.
 J

a
m

e
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

9
0

8
5

-6
%

9
0

8
5

-6
%

2
3
9
,8

6
4

2
3
2
,2

7
9

-3
%

1
6
,9

9
6

1
6
,7

0
1

-2
%

1
,3

3
0

5
,3

0
4

1
7
,5

6
6

1
7
,4

0
1

-1
%

3
,7

5
0

0
0

#
D

IV
/0

!
6
6
,0

9
1

4
8
,3

0
2

3
1
2
1

W
a
rb

e
rr

y
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
4
6
.2

3
1
5

-9
%

2
3
.3

3
4
6
.2

3
3
8
.3

-2
%

7
1
2
,6

1
6

6
9
9
,8

6
5

-2
%

5
4
,9

9
7

5
9
,8

8
6

9
%

7
5
,9

5
5

7
6
,4

7
1

1
%

4
,0

7
2

2
1
,4

2
2

2
7
,7

2
8

2
9
%

9
,7

5
0

3
0
,1

3
2

2
2
,4

3
5

-2
6
%

1
,9

7
1

4
5
,3

1
5

4
8
,5

6
1

3
6
0
0

G
a
lm

p
to

n
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
1
0

2
0
9

0
%

2
1
0

2
0
9

0
%

4
8
0
,4

4
2

4
8
3
,3

9
9

1
%

3
7
,7

4
8

3
9
,2

3
3

4
%

1
,9

4
9

9
,4

9
1

1
1
,1

1
6

1
7
%

5
,6

2
5

2
5
,6

6
3

2
5
,6

6
5

0
%

1
,4

1
9

1
,4

2
8

7
,6

5
6

1
0
,0

2
9

3
6
0
1

S
t.
 M

a
rg

a
re

t 
C

li
th

e
ro

w
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

9
3

8
8

-5
%

9
3

8
8

-5
%

2
4
2
,7

4
9

2
3
8
,1

9
2

-2
%

2
7
,9

8
9

2
9
,8

4
4

7
%

2
,9

4
4

9
,7

8
3

7
,5

4
8

-2
3
%

2
,6

2
5

1
1
,5

0
4

1
1
,5

0
5

0
%

1
,2

6
2

9
2
0

3
7
,4

5
3

1
8
,1

5
0

3
6
1
3

S
a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 C
a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 N

u
rs

e
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
1
8

2
0
5

-6
%

2
0
.9

2
1
8

2
2
5
.9

4
%

4
6
3
,0

9
3

4
7
5
,2

7
9

3
%

3
6
,6

3
6

3
5
,4

7
6

-3
%

5
5
,7

1
5

5
1
,5

8
3

-7
%

3
,2

0
9

2
,0

1
3

2
2
,3

0
8

2
1
,7

7
7

-2
%

9
,3

7
5

5
,3

1
0

2
,6

5
5

-5
0
%

1
,7

0
8

1
,4

9
9

4
8
,7

5
4

5
0
,0

9
0

3
6
1
4

Q
u
e
e
n
s
w

a
y
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

1
9
6

1
9
1

-3
%

1
9
6

1
9
1

-3
%

4
5
3
,8

6
0

4
4
4
,0

6
6

-2
%

6
0
,1

6
6

6
1
,2

5
6

2
%

1
,4

5
1

1
6
,1

0
5

2
1
,1

1
2

3
1
%

8
,2

5
0

1
7
,6

9
9

1
7
,7

0
0

0
%

1
,4

7
8

1
,3

5
2

6
1
,1

3
8

9
4
,7

6
6

3
6
1
5

A
ll
 S

a
in

ts
 B

a
b
b
a
c
o
m

b
e
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

1
9
9

2
0
0

1
%

1
9
9

2
0
0

1
%

4
6
0
,0

8
5

4
6
4
,5

5
5

1
%

3
2
,9

8
5

3
5
,7

4
4

8
%

2
,8

7
9

1
8
,5

3
1

1
8
,3

6
6

-1
%

6
,0

0
0

2
4
,7

7
8

2
0
,7

9
8

-1
6
%

1
,0

6
6

1
,3

9
0

4
3
,5

4
6

6
1
,7

8
8

3
6
1
6

S
t.
 M

a
ry

c
h
u
rc

h
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
6
9
.7

2
4
7

-8
%

1
9
.6

2
6
9
.7

2
6
6
.6

-1
%

5
7
5
,7

0
8

5
6
3
,4

1
5

-2
%

5
1
,4

8
1

5
1
,2

5
0

0
%

5
1
,1

3
3

7
0
,1

8
1

3
7
%

3
,8

1
0

2
7
,1

2
8

2
7
,3

9
5

1
%

6
,3

7
5

1
5
,0

4
4

1
2
,3

9
0

-1
8
%

1
,3

6
8

1
,6

7
0

7
7
,3

6
5

1
1
7
,2

7
3

3
6
1
7

P
ri
o
ry

 R
o
m

a
n
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

1
7
7

1
8
1

2
%

1
7
7

1
8
1

2
%

4
1
6
,5

9
9

4
2
5
,5

6
7

2
%

2
9
,5

7
1

3
0
,6

3
0

4
%

1
,9

7
0

2
0
,3

1
0

2
3
,8

4
1

1
7
%

6
,7

5
0

1
5
,4

8
7

1
4
,6

0
3

-6
%

1
,3

9
1

1
,3

1
0

5
2
,4

0
4

5
3
,8

1
7

3
6
1
8

T
o
rr

e
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
3
5
.8

2
1
9

-7
%

2
6
.5

2
3
5
.8

2
4
5
.5

4
%

4
9
1
,9

1
3

5
0
3
,0

8
9

2
%

4
0
,7

8
6

4
4
,3

8
9

9
%

7
8
,6

6
7

1
0
5
,7

1
3

3
4
%

3
,0

3
1

1
4
,8

6
0

1
9
,2

5
8

3
0
%

6
,0

0
0

1
4
,1

5
9

1
6
,8

1
5

1
9
%

8
6
4

1
,5

8
1

5
1
,2

6
4

5
5
,7

9
4

3
6
1
9

C
o
ll
a
to

n
 S

t.
 M

a
ry

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
0
8

2
0
6

-1
%

2
0
8

2
0
6

-1
%

4
7
7
,3

4
8

4
7
7
,3

7
3

0
%

3
1
,7

2
4

2
9
,8

7
0

-6
%

4
,2

8
7

1
4
,7

2
4

1
4
,7

9
0

0
%

4
,5

0
0

1
9
,4

6
9

1
9
,0

2
8

-2
%

9
4
0

1
,4

1
5

2
7
,3

1
1

2
2
,6

0
5

3
7
5
1

E
d
e
n
 P

a
rk

 P
ri
m

a
ry

3
7
5
.8

3
2
0

-1
5
%

2
3
.4

3
7
5
.8

3
4
3
.4

-9
%

7
7
1
,4

5
6

7
0
5
,3

4
3

-9
%

9
7
,2

0
4

9
9
,7

1
2

3
%

7
6
,2

8
8

5
6
,8

8
4

-2
5
%

5
,0

0
9

2
0
,6

7
6

2
9
,9

9
3

3
3
,1

4
3

1
1
%

1
1
,6

2
5

4
7
,7

8
7

4
1
,5

9
5

-1
3
%

6
5
,7

5
5

7
2
,0

8
5

3
7
5
2

K
in

g
s
 A

s
h
 P

ri
m

a
ry

3
9
2
.8

3
5
4

-1
0
%

1
5
.7

3
9
2
.8

3
6
9
.7

-6
%

8
1
0
,0

9
9

7
8
2
,2

3
0

-3
%

6
3
,3

0
8

7
2
,7

7
1

1
5
%

7
2
,0

6
9

5
4
,1

7
4

-2
5
%

2
7
,6

0
4

8
9
,8

7
7

8
3
,8

5
3

-7
%

1
8
,7

5
0

6
9
,5

1
3

5
8
,4

1
0

-1
6
%

2
7
1
,8

2
7

2
5
7
,8

4
5

5
2
0
0

H
a
y
e
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l

3
9
8
.4

3
8
1

-4
%

2
5
.4

3
9
8
.4

4
0
6
.4

2
%

8
3
3
,4

1
5

8
3
0
,9

0
7

0
%

6
2
,6

2
5

6
2
,9

6
3

1
%

5
2
,2

3
4

9
5
,5

7
2

8
3
%

4
,3

1
3

5
4
,0

0
9

5
1
,6

8
7

-4
%

1
0
,8

7
5

2
6
,5

4
8

2
6
,5

5
0

0
%

4
,5

0
6

2
,2

5
7

6
1
,0

2
0

5
7
,6

5
6

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
IM

A
R

Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L
S

9
,1

3
6
.4

0
8
,7

0
7

-5
%

0
.0

0
4
1
9
.5

0
9
,1

3
6
.4

0
9
,1

2
6
.5

0
-0

.1
%

1
9
,5

6
0
,0

2
1

1
9
,5

2
6
,0

6
3

-0
.2

%
1
,9

1
0
,7

6
5

1
,9

0
6
,4

6
3

-0
.2

%
1
,2

2
2
,4

9
8

1
,4

0
4
,7

1
1

1
5
%

2
8
,7

5
3

3
,5

7
0

4
2
3
,8

7
3

6
,1

8
2

1
,0

0
0
,8

3
5

1
,0

5
5
,4

9
1

5
%

3
0
3
,3

7
5

8
8
8
,0

4
3

8
4
8
,5

8
2

-4
%

1
6
,0

0
2

2
3
,4

3
7

0
0

2
,4

1
6
,7

7
9

2
,4

1
6
,8

2
9

F
o
r 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ie
s
 i
t 
is

 1
0
/1

1
 a

ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n

4
1
1
4

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 G

ra
m

m
a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
fo

r 
G

ir
ls

6
0
0

5
9
6

-1
%

2
6
8

2
6
2

8
6
8

8
5
8

-1
%

1
,7

9
5
,5

8
5

1
,7

9
6
,7

2
1

0
%

2
3
4
,1

5
6

2
3
6
,2

5
2

1
%

2
7
,9

2
9

1
2
,5

3
0

8
,7

3
8

-3
0
%

2
,2

5
0

1
7
3
,2

1
8

2
0
4
,6

8
3

1
8
%

1
2
,1

3
3

(8
1
,6

0
2
)

1
,1

8
0
,3

4
3

3
6
,7

7
8

3
1
,9

0
2

4
1
1
5

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

8
1
7

8
0
7

-1
%

0
0

8
1
7

8
0
7

-1
%

2
,4

0
6
,2

9
3

2
,3

9
1
,5

1
6

-1
%

2
5
9
,7

9
7

2
8
8
,4

9
3

1
1
%

9
6
,5

7
2

8
9
,7

9
2

8
5
,5

2
6

-5
%

6
5
,6

2
5

1
3
2
,7

4
2

1
1
4
,6

0
8

-1
4
%

4
5
8
,4

8
2

4
7
4
,0

0
4

4
1
1
6

C
h
u
rs

to
n
 F

e
rr

e
rs

 G
ra

m
m

a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l

6
5
0

6
5
1

0
%

2
4
7

2
8
0

8
9
7

9
3
1

4
%

1
,9

3
6
,0

1
0

1
,9

5
1
,1

2
8

1
%

2
1
0
,2

3
3

2
1
8
,3

3
5

4
%

2
1
,4

7
7

9
8

1
8
,2

1
8

1
9
,1

6
6

5
%

2
,2

5
0

1
4
7
,3

1
3

1
4
7
,3

0
6

0
%

1
2
,4

9
2

(7
3
,0

7
0
)

1
,2

4
4
,4

4
9

4
0
,8

6
4

4
2
,3

2
7

4
1
1
7

W
e
s
tl
a
n
d
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
&

 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

1
,1

0
4

1
,0

7
8

-2
%

2
6
3

2
4
4

1
,3

6
7

1
,3

2
2

-3
%

3
,2

0
5
,4

8
3

3
,1

5
1
,4

6
7

-2
%

4
7
9
,7

5
3

5
1
1
,6

5
1

7
%

3
6
,4

6
0

4
3
,9

6
1

1
1
4
,4

4
0

1
1
5
,3

8
8

1
%

5
3
,6

2
5

2
4
0
,3

1
3

2
1
4
,0

9
8

-1
1
%

1
1
,9

7
8

(5
3
,6

5
8
)

1
,4

1
1
,7

2
2

5
1
0
,9

6
1

4
4
4
,5

3
7

4
1
1
8

B
ri
x
h
a
m

 C
o
ll
e
g
e

1
,0

4
3

1
,0

5
0

1
%

0
0

1
,0

4
3

1
,0

5
0

1
%

3
,0

3
2
,7

6
8

3
,0

7
1
,3

6
7

1
%

2
6
3
,8

1
0

2
6
9
,5

5
6

2
%

2
6
,8

4
6

6
5
,1

4
4

6
1
,8

2
6

-5
%

4
9
,8

7
5

2
0
1
,3

2
5

1
6
8
,5

9
3

-1
6
%

7
,9

4
6

2
7
4
,5

7
8

2
2
5
,5

7
0

4
1
1
9

P
a
ig

n
to

n
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 &

 S
p
o
rt

s
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

1
,3

4
4

1
,3

0
8

-3
%

2
0
2

2
0
8

1
,5

4
6

1
,5

1
6

-2
%

3
,8

8
3
,1

1
4

3
,7

9
6
,2

6
9

-2
%

5
3
2
,2

0
3

5
8
8
,8

4
0

1
1
%

2
1
3
,6

8
3

2
7
9
,2

8
5

1
3
5
,9

7
6

1
3
8
,3

4
6

2
%

8
8
,5

0
0

2
3
9
,1

4
7

2
1
6
,2

2
4

-1
0
%

(1
4
9
,2

6
4
)

1
,0

3
2
,4

9
3

5
6
3
,6

4
2

5
8
0
,3

8
9

4
6
0
1

S
t 
C

u
th

b
e
rt

 M
a
y
n
e
 J

o
in

t 
C

a
th

o
li
c
 a

n
d
 C

 o
f 
E

 S
c
h
o
o
l

9
7
8

9
7
1

-1
%

1
5
2

1
7
8

1
,1

3
0

1
,1

4
9

2
%

2
,8

5
2
,4

1
0

2
,8

5
1
,1

8
8

0
%

2
2
6
,3

5
3

2
3
5
,4

1
5

4
%

2
3
,3

8
2

5
5
,1

9
0

6
3
,7

2
2

1
5
%

3
8
,6

2
5

1
9
9
,7

5
5

1
7
7
,8

9
2

-1
1
%

1
2
,7

3
2

7
,4

3
1

(4
2
,5

3
7
)

8
2
0
,9

3
6

2
2
1
,3

0
3

3
0
5
,1

8
8

5
4
0
1

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 B

o
y
s
' 
G

ra
m

m
a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l

7
5
0

7
6
4

2
%

3
0
8

3
4
9

1
,0

5
8

1
,1

1
3

5
%

2
,2

1
4
,7

3
2

2
,2

6
8
,3

4
5

2
%

2
8
2
,0

1
0

2
6
8
,1

8
2

-5
%

3
8
,6

7
3

8
,7

3
8

9
,2

1
2

5
%

2
,6

2
5

2
2
0
,3

0
7

1
8
5
,0

4
1

-1
6
%

5
,3

2
8

1
3
,2

2
8

(9
8
,8

4
7
)

1
,5

1
8
,4

3
4

3
1
,0

1
0

3
3
,6

7
8

T
O

T
A

L
 S

E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L
S

7
,2

8
6
.0

0
7
,2

2
5

-1
%

1
,4

4
0
.0

0
1
,5

2
1

8
,7

2
6
.0

0
8
,7

4
6

0
.2

%
2
1
,3

2
6
,3

9
5

2
1
,2

7
8
,0

0
1

-0
.2

%
2
,4

8
8
,3

1
5

2
,6

1
6
,7

2
5

5
%

0
0

3
6
,4

6
0

2
1
3
,6

8
3

5
5
8
,1

2
5

9
8

5
0
0
,0

2
8

5
0
1
,9

2
4

0
%

3
0
3
,3

7
5

1
,5

5
4
,1

1
9

1
,4

2
8
,4

4
5

-8
%

1
8
,0

6
0

6
5
,2

0
8

(4
9
8
,9

7
8
)

7
,1

7
5
,3

9
1

2
,1

3
7
,6

1
7

2
,1

3
7
,5

9
5

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
IM

A
R

Y
 &

 S
E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y

1
6
,4

2
2
.4

0
1
5
,9

3
2

-3
%

1
,4

4
0
.0

0
1
,9

4
1

1
7
,8

6
2
.4

0
1
7
,8

7
2
.5

0
0
.1

%
4
0
,8

8
6
,4

1
6

4
0
,8

0
4
,0

6
4

-0
.2

%
4
,3

9
9
,0

8
0

4
,5

2
3
,1

8
8

3
%

1
,2

2
2
,4

9
8

1
,4

0
4
,7

1
1

1
5
%

6
5
,2

1
3

2
1
7
,2

5
3

9
8
1
,9

9
7

6
,2

8
0

1
,5

0
0
,8

6
3

1
,5

5
7
,4

1
5

4
%

6
0
6
,7

5
0

2
,4

4
2
,1

6
2

2
,2

7
7
,0

2
7

-7
%

3
4
,0

6
2

8
8
,6

4
5

(4
9
8
,9

7
8
)

7
,1

7
5
,3

9
1

4
,5

5
4
,3

9
6

4
,5

5
4
,4

2
4

D
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\5
\7
\2
\A
I0
0
0
0
1
2
7
5
\$
a
rs
y
n
xs
h
.x
ls

2
0
/0
4
/1
1

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1

Page 5



S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 C

O
M

P
A

R
I
S

O
N

 O
F

 S
C

H
O

O
L

 A
L

L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N
S

 2
0

1
1

/1
2

 W
I
T

H
 2

0
1

0
/1

1

D
fE

S
S
c
h
o
o
l 
N

a
m

e

N
o
.

2
4
0
7

F
u
rz

e
h
a
m

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 N

u
rs

e
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
3
4

C
u
rl
e
d
g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
3
8

O
ld

w
a
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
3
9

W
h
it
e
 R

o
c
k
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
5
3

C
o
c
k
in

g
to

n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
5
4

E
ll
a
c
o
m

b
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l

2
4
5
5

H
o
m

e
la

n
d
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
5
6

S
t.
 M

a
rg

a
re

t'
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l

2
4
6
0

W
a
tc

o
m

b
e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
6
4

P
re

s
to

n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
6
6

C
h
e
s
tn

u
t 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
6
8

S
h
ip

h
a
y
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 O

rc
h
a
rd

 N
u
rs

e
ry

2
4
6
9

S
h
e
rw

e
ll
 V

a
ll
e
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
7
3

R
o
s
e
la

n
d
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

2
4
7
4

B
a
rt

o
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
1
0
3

B
ri
x
h
a
m

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
1
1
9

Il
s
h
a
m

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
1
2
0

U
p
to

n
 S

t.
 J

a
m

e
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

3
1
2
1

W
a
rb

e
rr

y
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
0
0

G
a
lm

p
to

n
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
0
1

S
t.
 M

a
rg

a
re

t 
C

li
th

e
ro

w
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
3

S
a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 C
a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 N

u
rs

e
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
4

Q
u
e
e
n
s
w

a
y
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
5

A
ll
 S

a
in

ts
 B

a
b
b
a
c
o
m

b
e
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
6

S
t.
 M

a
ry

c
h
u
rc

h
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
7

P
ri
o
ry

 R
o
m

a
n
 C

a
th

o
li
c
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
8

T
o
rr

e
 C

 o
f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
6
1
9

C
o
ll
a
to

n
 S

t.
 M

a
ry

 C
 o

f 
E

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l

3
7
5
1

E
d
e
n
 P

a
rk

 P
ri
m

a
ry

3
7
5
2

K
in

g
s
 A

s
h
 P

ri
m

a
ry

5
2
0
0

H
a
y
e
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
IM

A
R

Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L
S

4
1
1
4

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 G

ra
m

m
a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
fo

r 
G

ir
ls

4
1
1
5

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

4
1
1
6

C
h
u
rs

to
n
 F

e
rr

e
rs

 G
ra

m
m

a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l

4
1
1
7

W
e
s
tl
a
n
d
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
&

 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

4
1
1
8

B
ri
x
h
a
m

 C
o
ll
e
g
e

4
1
1
9

P
a
ig

n
to

n
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 &

 S
p
o
rt

s
 C

o
ll
e
g
e

4
6
0
1

S
t 
C

u
th

b
e
rt

 M
a
y
n
e
 J

o
in

t 
C

a
th

o
li
c
 a

n
d
 C

 o
f 
E

 S
c
h
o
o
l

5
4
0
1

T
o
rq

u
a
y
 B

o
y
s
' 
G

ra
m

m
a
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l

T
O

T
A

L
 S

E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y
 S

C
H

O
O

L
S

T
O

T
A

L
 P

R
IM

A
R

Y
 &

 S
E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y

in
c
l 
P
o
s
t 
1
6

in
c
l 
p
o
s
t 
1
6

2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
1
/1

2
C

D
M

a
x
 o

f 
C

 o
r 

D
2
0
1
1
/1

2
&

 a
ll
 g

ra
n
ts

&
 s

o
m

e
 g

ra
n
ts

F
u
n
d
in

g
S
c
h
o
o
l

S
c
h
o
o
l

S
S
G

S
S
G

E
x
te

n
d
e
d

E
x
te

n
d
e
d

P
ri

m
a
ry

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

S
c
h
o
o
l

S
p
e
c
ia

li
s
t

S
c
h
o
o
l

E
th

n
ic

2
0
1
1
/1

2
M

in
im

u
m

T
o
ta

l
S
c
h
o
o
ls

P
u
p
il

2
0
1
1
/1

2
2
0
1
0
/1

1

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e

fo
r

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
P
e
rs

o
n
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n

P
e
rs

o
n
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n

S
c
h
o
o
ls

S
c
h
o
o
ls

S
tr

a
te

g
y

S
tr

a
te

g
y

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
o
o
ls

L
u
n
c
h

M
in

o
ri

ty
G

if
te

d
 &

S
E
N

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d

F
o
rm

u
la

F
u
n
d
in

g
S
c
h
o
o
l

A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n

P
re

m
iu

m
T
o
ta

l
T
o
ta

l
D

if
fe

re
n
c
e

S
IW

O
's

G
ra

n
t

G
ra

n
t

S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
il
it
y

S
u
b
s
id

y
G

ra
n
t

G
ra

n
t

A
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t

T
a
le

n
te

d
S
ta

te
m

e
n
ti
n
g

P
ro

v
is

io
n

A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n

G
u
a
ra

n
te

e
A

ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n

D
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
F
u
n
d
in

g
F
u
n
d
in

g

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

-2
7
%

4
2
,2

2
8

4
9
,9

2
6

5
,3

3
7

8
,5

8
8

3
,3

0
4

6
,0

0
0

9
,5

5
1

3
5
,6

7
1

2
,1

9
3

7
1
5

1
5
,4

2
9

9
7
6
,6

9
6

9
6
8
,2

6
3

9
7
6
,6

9
6

F
o
rm

u
la

1
4
,6

2
0

9
9
1
,3

1
6

8
7
3
,3

5
0

1
4
%

-3
%

6
5
,9

3
8

6
5
,2

4
8

2
0
,1

5
0

2
1
,3

1
2

4
,7

7
7

1
8
,8

8
1

1
3
,8

1
1

4
9
,0

9
1

6
,9

0
0

8
4
5

5
6
,7

6
8

1
,6

0
3
,1

4
2

1
,5

3
6
,1

2
8

1
,6

0
3
,1

4
2

F
o
rm

u
la

4
6
,4

1
0

1
,6

4
9
,5

5
2

1
,6

5
0
,9

9
5

0
%

-1
6
%

9
2
,4

5
0

9
6
,9

2
8

1
4
,7

1
0

1
5
,2

5
5

7
,8

1
1

1
2
,5

2
9

2
2
,5

8
1

7
5
,6

2
1

4
,5

7
9

1
,7

5
5

7
9
,9

7
2

2
,0

7
1
,8

5
5

2
,0

2
4
,9

9
9

2
,0

7
1
,8

5
5

F
o
rm

u
la

3
1
,5

3
0

2
,1

0
3
,3

8
5

2
,0

0
9
,9

5
7

5
%

-1
7
%

6
3
,1

0
3

6
5
,8

8
8

1
5
,5

6
0

8
,0

7
2

5
,1

7
0

6
,8

8
2

1
4
,9

4
7

3
6
,6

1
3

2
,5

1
5

1
,1

0
5

1
7
,0

6
7

1
,2

7
6
,7

4
4

1
,2

3
2
,8

5
2

1
,2

7
6
,7

4
4

F
o
rm

u
la

1
6
,9

7
0

1
,2

9
3
,7

1
4

1
,2

1
8
,0

1
0

6
%

-1
0
%

6
0
,2

9
2

6
1
,9

2
0

1
6
,9

1
7

1
8
,6

4
6

4
,7

9
0

1
9
,7

6
4

1
3
,8

4
7

5
2
,9

2
2

7
,2

2
3

4
,1

3
6

3
6
,3

3
6

1
,4

0
1
,9

4
6

1
,3

6
2
,5

9
2

1
,4

0
1
,9

4
6

F
o
rm

u
la

4
8
,1

6
0

1
,4

5
0
,1

0
6

1
,3

4
5
,1

8
7

8
%

-3
%

4
2
,1

3
4

4
3
,6

1
6

1
6
,2

0
3

1
5
,9

4
2

3
,0

3
3

1
9
,5

8
7

8
,7

7
0

6
6
,4

6
9

7
,1

5
8

4
,1

3
6

2
8
,8

5
1

1
,1

1
5
,4

0
5

1
,0

6
7
,0

3
8

1
,1

1
5
,4

0
5

F
o
rm

u
la

4
7
,7

3
0

1
,1

6
3
,1

3
5

1
,0

6
4
,2

0
1

9
%

2
2
%

4
0
,8

6
1

4
1
,6

0
6

7
,0

1
0

6
,1

0
4

2
,5

3
0

7
,9

4
1

7
,3

1
4

2
7
,8

1
4

2
,9

0
2

1
3
0

3
6
,4

5
1

9
0
0
,7

6
0

8
5
3
,7

8
0

9
0
0
,7

6
0

F
o
rm

u
la

1
9
,3

5
0

9
2
0
,1

1
0

8
3
8
,8

9
9

1
0
%

5
%

5
3
,9

7
2

5
5
,7

7
6

1
8
,1

9
3

1
4
,3

9
7

4
,2

0
0

1
5
,8

8
2

1
2
,1

4
2

5
0
,7

4
0

5
,8

0
4

1
,3

0
0

1
3
,2

9
1

8
6
,1

3
9

1
,3

2
4
,1

5
7

1
,2

7
8
,0

8
9

1
,3

2
4
,1

5
7

F
o
rm

u
la

3
8
,7

0
0

1
,3

6
2
,8

5
7

1
,2

6
3
,4

5
5

8
%

1
1
%

4
3
,0

4
8

4
2
,0

0
3

1
3
,8

5
4

9
,5

1
3

2
,4

9
3

1
4
,6

4
6

7
,2

0
7

6
8
,3

5
6

5
,3

5
3

5
2
0

3
6
,3

6
4

1
,0

8
2
,9

6
7

1
,0

2
5
,1

4
1

1
,0

8
2
,9

6
7

F
o
rm

u
la

3
5
,6

9
0

1
,1

1
8
,6

5
7

9
9
7
,9

8
6

1
2
%

4
%

5
0
,9

5
7

5
2
,0

6
4

7
,1

3
5

3
,7

2
6

3
,8

4
4

5
,2

9
4

1
1
,1

1
3

3
6
,3

5
1

1
,9

3
5

1
,2

3
5

5
4
,4

9
0

7
7
,1

3
8

1
,1

0
0
,3

4
2

1
,0

5
9
,1

3
2

1
,1

0
0
,3

4
2

F
o
rm

u
la

1
3
,5

0
0

1
,1

1
3
,8

4
2

1
,0

5
4
,7

4
9

6
%

3
7
%

2
4
,1

9
2

2
0
,9

2
2

2
,5

1
5

4
,7

3
9

7
4
9

3
,1

7
6

2
,1

6
6

1
8
,4

7
3

1
,1

6
1

2
,1

2
2

3
7
,2

0
7

4
2
2
,9

6
1

3
8
1
,2

7
0

4
2
2
,9

6
1

F
o
rm

u
la

7
,7

4
0

4
3
0
,7

0
1

5
0
9
,4

6
8

-1
5
%

-9
%

6
3
,8

1
5

6
6
,5

5
4

9
,0

5
8

1
0
,9

4
4

4
,8

5
1

7
,7

6
4

1
4
,0

2
4

5
1
,3

0
8

2
,8

3
8

1
,3

6
5

1
3
,0

7
5

1
,3

7
0
,1

9
4

1
,3

2
0
,2

0
3

1
,3

7
0
,1

9
4

F
o
rm

u
la

1
8
,9

2
0

1
,3

8
9
,1

1
4

1
,3

0
5
,5

0
3

6
%

-1
0
%

9
0
,3

7
3

9
4
,9

9
5

1
8
,4

1
8

1
7
,2

1
5

7
,6

0
2

1
1
,1

1
7

2
1
,9

7
7

6
1
,7

2
7

4
,0

6
3

1
,8

8
5

7
2
,7

9
1

2
,0

7
0
,9

3
9

2
,0

1
7
,8

0
0

2
,0

7
0
,9

3
9

F
o
rm

u
la

2
7
,0

9
0

2
,0

9
8
,0

2
9

1
,9

5
4
,2

1
7

7
%

0
%

4
2
,5

8
1

4
0
,4

1
6

1
1
,1

3
8

7
,8

8
2

2
,7

2
6

8
,6

4
7

7
,8

8
2

2
9
,8

9
3

3
,1

6
0

3
9
0

1
4
,4

4
7

8
0
1
,6

5
1

7
7
7
,5

5
3

8
0
1
,6

5
1

F
o
rm

u
la

2
1
,0

7
0

8
2
2
,7

2
1

8
3
6
,7

0
1

-2
%

3
%

6
3
,0

4
3

6
9
,1

9
0

1
8
,9

5
3

2
2
,9

1
1

5
,1

2
1

3
1
,2

3
4

1
4
,8

0
5

9
2
,9

3
0

1
1
,4

1
5

1
,2

3
5

5
4
,9

5
3

8
2
,8

6
5

2
,0

4
9
,7

6
2

1
,9

6
5
,4

9
8

2
,0

4
9
,7

6
2

F
o
rm

u
la

7
6
,3

1
0

2
,1

2
6
,0

7
2

1
,8

5
4
,0

8
3

1
5
%

-4
7
%

5
5
,0

2
2

4
1
,3

2
5

6
,2

1
5

9
,1

3
4

2
,4

8
1

3
,8

8
2

7
,1

7
2

3
2
,0

8
6

1
,4

1
9

4
5
5

3
,2

6
7

7
6
4
,8

3
9

8
7
0
,1

3
5

8
7
0
,1

3
5

M
F

G
9
,4

6
0

8
7
9
,5

9
5

8
5
7
,8

0
0

3
%

-2
4
%

3
4
,5

1
0

3
4
,2

7
2

6
,2

6
8

2
,2

4
6

2
,1

3
7

2
,4

7
0

6
,1

7
8

3
2
,3

8
5

9
0
3

2
,6

4
2

0
5
7
7
,2

0
7

5
9
1
,8

8
9

5
9
1
,8

8
9

M
F

G
6
,4

2
0

5
9
8
,3

0
9

5
9
3
,3

8
6

1
%

-2
7
%

2
3
,3

7
3

2
2
,8

8
0

2
,9

9
8

5
,5

4
9

1
,0

4
4

5
,4

7
0

3
,0

1
8

2
9
,7

0
4

1
,9

9
9

4
5
5

1
2
,5

6
6

4
0
7
,7

5
3

4
0
5
,9

4
3

4
0
7
,7

5
3

F
o
rm

u
la

1
3
,3

3
0

4
2
1
,0

8
3

4
1
4
,9

3
0

1
%

7
%

5
5
,1

6
5

5
5
,3

0
2

7
,4

4
6

8
,3

7
4

3
,8

6
9

8
,4

7
0

1
1
,1

8
4

3
4
,5

3
8

3
,0

9
6

7
8
0

9
,8

7
0

1
,0

8
6
,2

2
1

1
,0

3
7
,7

8
4

1
,0

8
6
,2

2
1

F
o
rm

u
la

2
1
,0

4
0

1
,1

0
7
,2

6
1

1
,0

7
7
,5

9
2

3
%

3
1
%

3
7
,8

4
0

3
8
,7

5
2

3
,8

0
1

4
,6

2
9

2
,5

6
7

3
,1

7
6

7
,4

2
0

2
0
,1

5
5

1
,1

6
1

7
8
0

2
8
,7

8
8

6
8
7
,2

9
1

6
5
5
,7

2
8

6
8
7
,2

9
1

F
o
rm

u
la

7
,9

4
0

6
9
5
,2

3
1

6
4
3
,5

2
9

8
%

-5
2
%

2
3
,1

6
0

2
3
,2

6
4

2
,1

9
4

4
,2

8
2

1
,0

8
1

1
,7

6
5

3
,1

2
4

2
0
,8

1
6

6
4
5

2
6
0

1
6
,8

3
1

3
8
5
,0

5
8

3
8
3
,9

5
1

3
8
5
,0

5
8

F
o
rm

u
la

4
,3

0
0

3
8
9
,3

5
8

3
9
9
,0

0
6

-2
%

3
%

3
9
,4

0
1

4
0
,9

1
5

6
,3

2
9

5
,8

5
7

2
,5

1
8

5
,8

2
3

7
,2

7
8

2
9
,4

1
9

2
,1

2
8

1
,0

4
0

2
1
,2

2
9

7
7
0
,8

7
1

7
5
0
,5

6
9

7
7
0
,8

7
1

F
o
rm

u
la

1
4
,3

9
0

7
8
5
,2

6
1

7
4
2
,2

0
6

6
%

5
5
%

3
6
,5

5
3

3
6
,4

4
8

5
,9

4
3

7
,6

0
3

2
,3

4
6

6
,5

2
9

6
,7

8
1

3
0
,0

7
9

2
,3

8
6

3
,8

1
1

3
3
,2

5
1

7
8
0
,6

6
5

7
0
5
,9

9
3

7
8
0
,6

6
5

F
o
rm

u
la

1
5
,9

1
0

7
9
6
,5

7
5

7
1
5
,5

4
7

1
1
%

4
2
%

3
7
,5

9
3

3
7
,6

0
0

5
,8

4
6

6
,2

2
3

2
,4

5
6

5
,4

7
0

7
,1

0
1

2
1
,6

3
1

1
,9

9
9

7
1
5

3
5
,7

7
1

7
3
1
,5

5
3

7
1
2
,2

3
6

7
3
1
,5

5
3

F
o
rm

u
la

1
3
,7

3
0

7
4
5
,2

8
3

6
9
9
,6

5
4

7
%

5
2
%

4
4
,3

6
4

4
6
,1

2
5

8
,4

4
5

8
,1

9
2

3
,0

3
3

7
,9

4
1

8
,7

7
0

3
1
,5

5
4

2
,9

0
2

8
4
5

6
3
,0

7
7

1
,0

2
7
,5

6
6

9
5
2
,1

7
9

1
,0

2
7
,5

6
6

F
o
rm

u
la

1
9
,5

5
0

1
,0

4
7
,1

1
6

9
6
9
,5

6
1

8
%

3
%

3
6
,1

5
6

3
5
,1

6
8

5
,8

3
1

9
,1

9
6

2
,2

2
3

6
,7

0
6

6
,4

2
6

4
2
,8

0
7

2
,4

5
1

3
,6

1
6

4
3
,3

4
0

7
1
1
,8

1
1

6
8
8
,9

7
9

7
1
1
,8

1
1

F
o
rm

u
la

1
6
,5

4
0

7
2
8
,3

5
1

6
7
9
,7

1
2

7
%

9
%

4
1
,7

9
1

4
3
,4

2
4

2
,9

1
3

8
,2

5
8

2
,6

9
0

5
,8

2
3

7
,7

7
5

2
8
,1

0
4

2
,1

2
8

4
5
5

1
6
,6

9
8

8
7
1
,8

9
0

8
2
5
,1

0
0

8
7
1
,8

9
0

F
o
rm

u
la

1
4
,1

9
0

8
8
6
,0

8
0

7
9
2
,1

3
5

1
2
%

-1
7
%

3
7
,8

2
8

3
8
,3

6
8

1
,8

4
0

2
,9

4
6

2
,5

3
0

3
,7

0
6

7
,3

1
4

2
0
,2

3
9

1
,3

5
4

1
3
0

2
5
,2

9
5

6
7
6
,6

9
0

6
6
0
,6

0
8

6
7
6
,6

9
0

F
o
rm

u
la

9
,4

3
0

6
8
6
,1

2
0

6
5
7
,5

1
1

4
%

1
0
%

5
7
,4

4
7

5
5
,9

5
5

8
,3

9
8

1
2
,9

7
8

3
,9

3
0

1
0
,7

6
4

1
1
,3

6
1

4
3
,1

6
3

3
,9

3
4

5
2
0

5
8
,6

3
0

1
,2

4
7
,3

0
8

1
,1

8
6
,7

0
0

1
,2

4
7
,3

0
8

F
o
rm

u
la

2
6
,6

3
0

1
,2

7
3
,9

3
8

1
,2

9
3
,0

7
7

-1
%

-5
%

7
3
,8

4
4

5
9
,3

2
2

1
8
,8

2
7

2
3
,5

5
8

4
,3

4
8

2
6
,1

1
6

1
2
,5

6
9

8
7
,5

6
9

9
,5

4
5

3
9
0

7
0
,8

7
0

1
5
4
,2

7
6

1
,8

0
4
,1

9
7

1
,7

5
2
,7

8
7

1
,8

0
4
,1

9
7

F
o
rm

u
la

6
3
,6

4
0

1
,8

6
7
,8

3
7

1
,8

8
2
,9

8
4

-1
%

-6
%

6
0
,3

8
3

6
4
,0

1
9

1
1
,9

3
8

1
8
,0

4
5

4
,6

7
9

1
4
,2

9
3

1
3
,5

2
7

4
6
,6

6
8

5
,2

2
4

5
8
5

3
6
,4

0
0

1
,3

5
0
,7

2
7

1
,3

1
0
,5

2
1

1
,3

5
0
,7

2
7

F
o
rm

u
la

3
5
,0

3
0

1
,3

8
5
,7

5
7

1
,2

9
5
,0

6
0

7
%

0
%

0
1
,5

3
3
,4

1
8

1
,5

4
0
,1

9
2

3
0
0
,3

8
2

3
2
2
,3

1
6

1
0
6
,9

3
3

3
0
7
,7

5
1

3
0
9
,1

3
6

0
1
,3

0
4
,8

9
6

0
1
1
2
,4

7
1

4
0
,3

5
0

0
1
,0

4
3
,3

7
5

4
0
0
,4

1
8

3
3
,4

5
1
,1

6
7

3
2
,3

6
1
,4

4
0

3
3
,5

7
1
,1

4
6

7
5
5
,3

2
0

3
4
,3

2
6
,4

6
6

3
2
,4

9
0
,4

5
3

6
%

-1
3
%

1
2
5
,1

4
2

1
2
3
,5

4
0

1
5
,8

0
8

1
1
,0

4
4

7
,3

2
0

2
,1

1
8

4
9
3

5
1
,3

0
9

1
1
0
,6

8
2

7
7
4

1
,6

8
8

2
8
,8

5
1

2
1
,7

8
7

2
,5

9
8
,6

1
1

2
,5

5
7
,1

8
0

2
,5

9
8
,6

1
1

F
o
rm

u
la

7
,7

6
0

3
,7

8
6
,7

1
4

3
,7

7
1
,5

5
1

0
%

3
%

3
8
,4

8
3

1
1
8
,2

1
0

1
1
6
,9

1
0

1
0
6
,6

6
8

9
3
,4

9
5

9
,9

1
1

3
0
,7

0
4

2
5
,6

1
1

1
7
1
,0

0
9

1
1
,2

2
1

1
,3

4
4

2
,6

0
8

4
3
,6

8
4

4
,0

6
1
,3

2
5

3
,9

9
2
,0

2
3

4
,0

6
1
,3

2
5

F
o
rm

u
la

7
5
,0

2
0

4
,1

3
6
,3

4
5

3
,9

9
9
,7

5
7

3
%

4
%

1
2
8
,9

2
1

1
3
3
,0

3
0

1
5
,8

4
1

1
6
,7

6
4

7
,9

9
5

6
,0

0
0

1
,7

9
7

8
7
,7

1
8

1
2
0
,0

9
9

2
,1

9
3

1
,4

2
4

2
9
,1

7
7

2
1
,9

1
6

2
,7

6
9
,6

2
0

2
,7

0
3
,0

4
3

2
,7

6
9
,6

2
0

F
o
rm

u
la

1
5
,8

2
0

4
,0

2
9
,8

8
9

3
,9

7
4
,5

8
9

1
%

-1
3
%

3
8
,4

8
3

1
8
9
,7

1
0

1
8
3
,8

6
0

1
1
7
,1

7
4

1
2
4
,2

2
9

1
3
,2

3
9

4
1
,8

2
2

3
2
,1

2
9

2
1
1
,7

4
6

1
4
4
,7

3
8

1
5
,2

8
4

1
,3

5
0

6
,5

2
0

1
7
5
,3

0
1

1
1
7
,7

6
9

5
,6

3
5
,9

7
7

5
,5

8
5
,6

3
5

5
,6

3
5
,9

7
7

F
o
rm

u
la

1
0
1
,9

1
0

7
,1

4
9
,6

0
9

7
,0

8
5
,0

3
2

1
%

-1
8
%

3
8
,4

8
3

1
4
7
,9

8
5

1
4
8
,5

0
0

9
9
,3

6
4

8
2
,9

9
1

1
2
,8

9
5

2
1
,8

8
1

1
9
,9

9
4

1
1
9
,5

0
5

1
2
9
,0

0
0

7
,9

9
7

3
0
2

7
,9

8
7

1
6
0
,9

6
8

1
4
2
,1

6
4

4
,7

7
4
,2

4
6

4
,7

4
7
,1

8
7

4
,7

7
4
,2

4
6

F
o
rm

u
la

5
3
,3

2
0

4
,8

2
7
,5

6
6

4
,7

0
7
,6

5
2

3
%

3
%

3
8
,4

8
3

2
1
2
,9

8
0

2
0
9
,0

8
0

1
5
7
,8

2
3

1
4
6
,6

4
7

1
6
,0

6
4

4
9
,2

3
3

3
3
,2

0
9

1
9
1
,6

4
5

1
6
9
,7

6
4

1
7
,9

9
3

7
4
9

2
,1

1
9

2
2
8
,7

5
4

6
,8

5
6
,0

1
2

6
,6

2
1
,1

6
1

6
,8

5
6
,0

1
2

F
o
rm

u
la

1
2
0
,1

7
0

8
,0

0
8
,6

7
5

7
,7

3
1
,4

2
4

4
%

3
8
%

1
5
8
,9

0
0

1
6
1
,3

7
0

7
8
,2

4
8

8
4
,7

9
6

1
1
,9

2
5

2
2
,5

8
7

1
9
,5

6
1

1
0
0
,6

2
3

1
2
9
,0

0
0

8
,2

5
5

2
,3

1
5

3
,9

1
2

1
2
8
,7

8
7

4
,3

4
6
,1

6
9

4
,1

5
9
,2

5
2

4
,3

4
6
,1

6
9

F
o
rm

u
la

5
5
,8

4
0

5
,2

2
2
,9

4
5

4
,9

2
2
,0

7
6

6
%

9
%

1
4
9
,5

4
0

1
5
6
,6

9
0

1
9
,3

8
4

1
3
,6

2
1

9
,3

8
3

2
,2

9
4

8
4
3

7
4
,3

0
0

2
1
9
,0

0
0

8
3
8

8
2
8

6
3
,7

3
3

1
1
,2

0
8

3
,2

7
8
,2

0
5

3
,2

7
0
,6

8
2

3
,2

7
8
,2

0
5

F
o
rm

u
la

7
,5

9
0

4
,8

0
4
,2

2
9

4
,7

8
7
,5

5
6

0
%

0
%

1
5
3
,9

3
2

1
,2

3
1
,3

8
7

1
,2

3
2
,9

8
0

6
1
0
,3

1
0

5
7
3
,5

8
6

8
8
,7

3
2

1
7
6
,6

3
9

0
1
3
3
,6

3
7

1
,0

0
7
,8

5
5

1
,0

2
2
,2

8
3

6
4
,5

5
4

1
0
,0

0
0

1
4
4
,9

0
7

7
9
2
,4

0
5

2
5
9
,9

3
4

3
4
,3

2
0
,1

6
5

3
3
,6

3
6
,1

6
2

3
4
,3

2
0
,1

6
5

4
3
7
,4

3
0

4
1
,9

6
5
,9

7
2

4
0
,9

7
9
,6

3
7

2
%

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

0
%

1
5
3
,9

3
2

2
,7

6
4
,8

0
5

2
,7

7
3
,1

7
2

9
1
0
,6

9
1

8
9
5
,9

0
2

1
9
5
,6

6
5

4
8
4
,3

9
0

3
0
9
,1

3
6

1
3
3
,6

3
7

2
,3

1
2
,7

5
1

1
,0

2
2
,2

8
3

1
7
7
,0

2
5

5
0
,3

5
0

1
4
4
,9

0
7

1
,8

3
5
,7

8
0

6
6
0
,3

5
2

6
7
,7

7
1
,3

3
2

6
5
,9

9
7
,6

0
1

6
7
,8

9
1
,3

1
1

1
,1

9
2
,7

5
0

7
6
,2

9
2
,4

3
8

7
3
,4

7
0
,0

9
0

4
%

D
:\
m
o
d
e
rn
g
o
v
\D
a
ta
\A
g
e
n
d
a
It
e
m
D
o
c
s
\5
\7
\2
\A
I0
0
0
0
1
2
7
5
\$
a
rs
y
n
xs
h
.x
ls

2
0
/0
4
/1
1

Page 6



School Forum 4th May 2011 
 
 
Proposed Closure of Chestnut Primary 
 
 
The proposed closure poses some financial questions relating to the Dedicated School Grant allocation 
for Chestnut primary. 
 
Chestnut Primary school has an allocation of £431k including pupil premium for 2011/12 plus any carry 
forward from the previous financial year.  
 
The pupils currently at Chestnut will transfer to other schools. In year pupil transfers usually do not 
involve any redistribution of funding but in these exceptional circumstances it is proposed that Torbay 
schools receiving pupils transferring form Chestnut receive a full years AWPU allocation. The full year is 
in recognition that other pupil led funding will not be recalculated in year. 
 
Some of Chestnut's allocation is for specific SEN funding which will follow the individual pupils. There is 
also a suggestion that some SEN funding is made available to provide additional short term support for 
Chestnut pupils moving to other schools. 
 
There will be some residual costs associate with maintaining an empty building such as caretaking and 
security. The site will continue to be used as a Children's Centre and nursery. 
 
A significant cost will be the potential redundancy costs of staff at Chestnut.  
 
 
 

Costs of maintaining the school 
April- August 
 

£180k 

Statementing allocations 
 

£37k 

AWPU for 61 transferring pupils  
 

£122k 

Potential redundancy costs    
 

£130k 

  

Total  £469k 

 
 
All these costs are indicative but not unreasonable.  
 
In 2012/13 the closure of the school will save recurrent funding of: 
 

School Lump sum £59k 

Premises funding £44k 

NNDR £21k 

Potentially threshold £11k 

  

Total £135k 

  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



The proposal is to: 
 

1. Use the remainder of Chestnut Primary School's allocation ( September-March) to cover one off 
exceptional costs in 2011/12. 

2. Transfer the full AWPU value to Torbay schools admitting Chestnut pupils within the 2011/12 
financial year.  

3. Fund redundancy costs from the residual of Chestnut schools allocation. Any shortfall to be 
funded from the Children's Services Redundancy reserve/Schools Redundancy reserve as are 
other school redundancies. 

 
M Redwood 
19.4.2011  
 

Page 8



  
1

S
C
H
O
O
L
S
 F
IN
A
N
C
IA
L
 V
A
L
U
E
 S
T
A
N
D
A
R
D
 (
S
F
V
S
) 

 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 m
a
n
y
 b
ill
io
n
s
 o
f 
p
o
u
n
d
s
 i
n
 p
u
b
lic
 m
o
n
e
y
, 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 v
e
ry
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
th
a
t 
th
is
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
is
 d
o
n
e
 w
e
ll,
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
b
o
th
 

to
 s
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
 p
u
b
lic
 f
u
n
d
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
o
 g
e
t 
th
e
 b
e
s
t 
v
a
lu
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
m
. 
 F
o
rm
a
l 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 w
it
h
in
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 l
ie
s
 w
it
h
 g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
ie
s
, 
a
n
d
 

th
is
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
p
la
c
e
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
g
o
v
e
rn
o
rs
. 
 I
t 
ta
k
e
s
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm
 o
f 
a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 o
f 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
ic
h
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
ie
s
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 f
o
rm
a
lly
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 h
e
a
d
 t
e
a
c
h
e
r 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
s
e
n
io
r 
s
ta
ff
. 
 W
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 d
o
n
e
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
. 
 T
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
ru
n
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 b
e
fo
re
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
; 
a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
d
 n
o
t 
a
tt
a
in
e
d
 t
h
e
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

in
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 (
F
M
S
iS
) 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
2
. 

 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 p
re
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
r 
a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
: 
th
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
th
in
g
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
 a
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 t
o
 f
e
e
l 
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
ir
 a
n
s
w
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 D
fE
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
ls
 f
o
r 
g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
ie
s
 

in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
a
c
h
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
, 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
 u
s
e
 i
f 
th
e
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
. 
 T
h
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
ls
 p
ro
v
id
e
 c
la
ri
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
th
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

im
p
lie
s
, 
e
x
a
m
p
le
s
 o
f 
g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
, 
a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 a
s
s
is
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
a
t 
is
s
u
e
 w
h
e
re
 i
t 
is
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
. 

 T
h
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
y
 m
a
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
 d
e
le
g
a
te
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 o
r 
s
im
ila
r;
 b
u
t 
th
e
 c
h
a
ir
 o
f 

g
o
v
e
rn
o
rs
 m
u
s
t 
s
ig
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 f
o
rm
. 
 T
h
e
re
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
a
 m
in
u
te
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
y
. 

 E
a
c
h
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 a
n
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
o
f 
Y
e
s
, 
In
 P
a
rt
, 
o
r 
N
o
. 
 W
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
is
 I
n
 P
a
rt
 o
r 
N
o
, 
th
e
 c
o
lu
m
n
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
, 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
te
r 
a
 v
e
ry
 b
ri
e
f 
s
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 r
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
. 
 W
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

a
n
s
w
e
r 
is
 Y
e
s
, 
th
e
 c
o
lu
m
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 i
ts
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
s
. 
 A
t 

th
e
 f
o
o
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
is
t 
o
f 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 a
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 a
 s
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
re
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 
re
p
o
rt
in
g
 b
a
c
k
. 
 

 T
h
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 f
o
rm
a
lly
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 l
ik
e
 F
M
S
iS
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 a
 c
o
p
y
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 s
ig
n
e
d
 r
e
c
o
rd
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 s
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t,
 w
h
e
re
 i
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
u
d
it
. 
 L
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
u
d
it
o
rs
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
t,
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
a
n
 a
u
d
it
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 c
h
e
c
k
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 s
e
lf
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
is
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
w
n
 j
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t.
  
T
h
e
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 b
o
d
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
a
n
y
 d
is
c
re
p
a
n
c
ie
s
 i
n
 j
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t.
 

 T
h
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
ic
h
 f
o
rm
 t
h
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 a
re
 d
iv
id
e
d
 i
n
to
 f
iv
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



  
2

 L
IS
T
 O

F
 Q

U
E
S
T
IO

N
S
 

A
: 
T
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 

 1
. 
  
In
 t
h
e
 v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 i
ts
e
lf
 a
n
d
 o
f 
s
e
n
io
r 
s
ta
ff
, 
d
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 

B
o
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
e
 a
m
o
n
g
 i
ts
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 f
u
lf
il 
it
s
 r
o
le
 o
f 

c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ie
ld
 o
f 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t?
 

 2
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 (
o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t)
 w
it
h
 c
le
a
r 

te
rm
s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 a
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 c
h
a
ir
?
 

 3
. 
  
Is
 t
h
e
re
 a
 c
le
a
r 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 a
n
d
 

o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
ta
ff
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
fi
e
ld
?
 

 4
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l’s
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
n
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
a
 t
e
rm
ly
 b
a
s
is
?
 

 5
. 
  
A
re
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 i
n
te
re
s
ts
 o
f 
G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 (
a
n
d
 s
e
n
io
r 
s
ta
ff
) 
p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 

re
g
is
te
re
d
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
s
o
 a
s
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 c
o
n
fl
ic
ts
 o
f 
in
te
re
s
t?
 

 B
: 
T
h
e
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
S
ta
ff
 

 6
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
m
 s
u
p
p
ly
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
w
it
h
 a
n
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
e
?
 

 7
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 c
o
p
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 

s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 s
ta
ff
, 
e
g
 o
n
 s
ic
k
 l
e
a
v
e
?
 

 8
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
lo
y
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ff
 o
f 
th
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
to
 b
e
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
in
 v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 t
a
le
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

A
N
S
W
E
R
 

(Y
e
s
/I
n
 

P
a
rt
/N
o
) 

C
O
M
M
E
N
T
S
, 
E
V
ID
E
N
C
E
 

A
N
D
 P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D
 

A
C
T
IO

N
S
 

Page 10



  
3

s
c
h
o
o
l?
 

 9
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
re
v
ie
w
 i
ts
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
?
 

 C
: 
 S
e
tt
in
g
 t
h
e
 B
u
d
g
e
t 

 1
0
. 
  
Is
 t
h
e
re
 a
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
le
 l
in
k
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l’s
 b
u
d
g
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

p
la
n
 f
o
r 
ra
is
in
g
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t?
 

 1
1
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
m
a
k
e
 a
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
b
u
d
g
e
t,
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
o
th
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

c
a
p
it
a
l 
fu
n
d
s
, 
fo
r 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
th
re
e
 y
e
a
rs
, 
u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 1
2
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
e
t 
a
 w
e
ll-
in
fo
rm
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r 
(w
it
h
 a
n
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
im
e
d
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
e
lim

in
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
y
 d
e
fi
c
it
)?
 

 1
3
. 
 I
s
 e
n
d
 y
e
a
r 
o
u
tt
u
rn
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
, 
o
r 
if
 n
o
t,
 i
s
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 

a
le
rt
e
d
 t
o
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 a
 t
im
e
ly
 m
a
n
n
e
r,
 a
n
d
 d
o
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
s
u
lt
 f
ro
m
 g
e
n
u
in
e
ly
 

u
n
fo
re
s
e
e
a
b
le
 c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
?
 

 D
: 
 V
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
M
o
n
e
y
 

 1
4
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
re
g
u
la
rl
y
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
 i
ts
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
a
t 
o
f 
s
im
ila
r 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 o
f 
s
p
e
n
d
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 h
ig
h
?
 

 1
5
. 
  
D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
rc
h
a
s
in
g
 g
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
b
o
th
 

m
e
e
t 
le
g
a
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
re
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
?
 

 1
6
. 
  
A
re
 b
a
la
n
c
e
s
 a
t 
a
 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 d
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
 c
le
a
r 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 

u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
n
e
y
 i
t 
p
la
n
s
 t
o
 h
o
ld
 i
n
 b
a
la
n
c
e
s
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r?
 

 

Page 11



  
4

1
7
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
m
a
in
ta
in
 i
ts
 p
re
m
is
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
a
s
s
e
ts
 t
o
 a
n
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

to
 a
v
o
id
 f
u
tu
re
 u
rg
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
re
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t?
 

 1
8
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
rs
, 
e
g
 o
n
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 s
ta
ff
 o
r 
jo
in
t 

p
u
rc
h
a
s
in
g
, 
w
h
e
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
?
 

 1
9
. 
 C
a
n
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
iv
e
 e
x
a
m
p
le
s
 o
f 
w
h
e
re
 i
t 
h
a
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r?
 

 E
: 
 P
ro
te
c
ti
n
g
 P
u
b
li
c
 M

o
n
e
y
 

 2
0
. 
 I
s
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
 s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 n
o
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 m
a
tt
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 a
u
d
it
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 o
r 
fr
o
m
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
e
a
k
n
e
s
s
e
s
 b
y
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
in
g
 B
o
d
y
?
 

 2
1
. 
 A
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 g
u
a
rd
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
fr
a
u
d
 b
y
 s
ta
ff
, 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
rs
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 (
p
le
a
s
e
 n
o
te
 a
n
y
 i
n
s
ta
n
c
e
 o
f 
fr
a
u
d
 d
e
te
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s
)?
 

 2
2
. 
 A
re
 a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l’s
 w
h
is
tl
e
b
lo
w
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 w
h
o
m
 t
h
e
y
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

re
p
o
rt
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
?
 

 2
3
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 a
c
c
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
h
a
t 
is
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 r
u
n
 

a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
rs
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
C
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

re
tu
rn
?
 

 2
4
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
u
d
it
 o
f 
v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 f
u
n
d
s
?
 

 2
5
. 
 D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 o
r 
d
is
a
s
te
r 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 

p
la
n
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
n
 u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 a
s
s
e
t 
re
g
is
te
r 
a
n
d
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 i
n
s
u
ra
n
c
e
?
 

 
 

 

Page 12



  
5

     O
U
T
C
O
M
E
 O

F
 S
E
L
F
-A
S
S
E
S
S
M
E
N
T
 

  F
: 
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
a
g
re
e
d
 r
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 
re
p
o
rt
in
g
 b
a
c
k
: 

           [s
ig
n
e
d
] 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 C
h
a
ir
 o
f 
G
o
v
e
rn
o
rs
 

 D
a
te
: 
  

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



!

"!#$%&'()*)+$%!$%!!

&#,$$(!-'%.+%/!01-$023!

4*)+$%*(1!*%.!50+%#+5(1&

Agenda Item 8

Page 15



A consultation on school funding reform: rationale and principles

1. Introduction 

1.1. In the White Paper The Importance of Teaching the Government set out 
its view that the current funding system is opaque, full of anomalies and unfair 
and therefore in need of reform.  The White Paper said we would consult on 
the merits of moving from the current funding system to a national funding 
formula, including the right time to begin the transition to a formula, the 
transitional arrangements necessary to ensure that schools and local 
authorities do not suffer undue turbulence, and the factors to take into account 
in order to assess the needs of pupils for funding purposes.

1.2. This document represents the first stage in that consultation and invites 
views on the aims and objectives of the school funding system and the high 
level principles for any potential reforms.  Taking into account the views 
expressed in response to this document, we expect to publish further 
proposals for consultation later in the spring or in early summer.  Because we 
consider the current system for funding Academies to be unsustainable, we are 
also publishing more detailed interim proposals for the funding of Academies 
alongside this consultation, for possible implementation prior to wider system 
reforms. 

1.3. We have not yet carried out an Equality Impact Assessment, since it is 
not possible to do so until we have developed proposals for the content of a 
formula. However, the intention of the reforms will be to create a fairer funding 
system, including ensuring that additional needs of particular groups are 
recognised. We will carry out an Equality Impact Assessment to be published 
alongside the second part of the consultation. 

1Page 16



2. The ideal school funding system 

2.1. Our view is that an ideal school funding system would have certain key 
characteristics.

! It would distribute money in a fair and logical way.  Schools in similar 
circumstances and with similar intakes would receive similar levels of 
funding.  Not only would this be demonstrably fairer, but it would increase 
the accountability of schools for the outcomes they deliver for their 
children. Schools’ budgets would also vary as they respond to the 
changing characteristics of pupils.

! It would distribute extra resources towards pupils who need them 
most. All children are entitled to a world class education. Yet we know that 
many children need additional support for which additional funding is 
necessary. That is why we have already introduced the pupil premium. A 
funding system which targets extra money at deprived children would help 
schools to provide them with the support to help them reach their potential, 
and would help improve the attainment of children overall.

! It would be transparent and easy to understand and explain.  This 
would mean that parents would be able to see clearly why their child’s 
school is funded at a certain level and how much money is being invested 
in their child’s education. Transparency would also lead to predictability, 
with schools understanding why they receive the funding levels they do, 
and how changes to their pupil population would affect their funding. 

! It would support a diverse range of school provision.  Transparent and 
fair funding would ensure that all schools operated on a level playing field, 
be they maintained, Academy or Free School; and would mean that as 
new schools and providers entered the system it was clear on what basis 
they would be funded. 

! It would provide value for money and ensure proper use of public 
funds. Revenue spending on schools currently represents over £35bn of 
public money. The school funding system needs to ensure that this 
represents good value for money, that funds are directed where they are 
needed, and that they are spent appropriately. In our view, schools are 
best placed to make decisions about how to use funding for their pupils. 

3. The current school funding system and its flaws 

3.1. The Department for Education has up until now paid money to local 
authorities for schools through a number of different grants.  The largest of 
these is the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  The DSG is ringfenced – i.e. can 
only be used for schools, early years or certain services for pupils such as 
provision for children with special needs.  The amount of DSG per pupil for 
each authority is calculated based on what the local authority received the 
previous year. Local authorities then fund schools using a local funding formula. 
The system is set out in the diagram below.

2Page 17



The current school funding system

Schools!settlement!

agreed!in!Spending!

Review!

Dedicated!Schools!

Grant!2006"12!

Other!grants,!e.g.!

Ethnic!Minority!

Achievement!Grant!

Other!grants,!e.g.!

School!Standards!grant!

!

Local!Authorities

!

Schools!

YPLA Academies!

Set!at!a!national!level!and!sent!through!

Local!Authorities!directly!to!schools!

Distribution!to!schools!based!on!a!

local!formula,!subject!to!a!few!

nationally!set!constraints!e.g.!the!

minimum funding guarantee

Amount!for!Academies!based!on!what!

schools!in!LA!area!receive,!and!additional!

funding!to!reflect!their!increased!

responsibilities!

Distribution!based!

on!criteria!applied!

in!past!

Guaranteed!Unit!of!funding based!on!planned!local!

authority!spend!in!2005"06,!dependent!on:!

! Needs"based!formula!

! Individual!local!authority!spending!decisions!

Mainstreamed!into!

DSG!from!2011"12!

!

In!addition,!there!has!been!some!subsequent!

additional!funding!for!ministerial!priorities.!!

Current!levels!of!funding!are!

based!on!assessed!levels!of!need!

in!2005!–!06,!plus!locked!in!

historic!decisions!on!spending.!

(No!of!pupils!X!

Guaranteed!Unit!of!

Funding)!!

Spend!–!Plus!

Methodology!

3.2. This method – called ‘spend plus’ - was started in 2006-07 and 
represented a reform from the previous method of school funding.  When the 
DSG was created, in 2006-07, its initial level for pupils in each local authority 
was based on what each authority planned to spend on schools in 2005-06 – 
the last year before the introduction of the DSG and ‘spend plus’. Therefore, 
because we still base funding from the DSG on the previous year, current 
levels of school funding are, in fact, based largely on those in 2005-06. 

3.3. The amount spent in 2005-06 was determined by two things: 

! an assessment of what the local authorities’ needs were at that time 
(often using data that was already becoming out of date); and 

! the amount local authorities each chose to spend on schools (itself a 
result partially of decisions made several years previously).

3.4. So, current levels of school funding are based on an assessment of 
needs which is out of date, and on historic decisions about levels of funding 
which may or may not reflect precisely what schools needed then. It is 

3Page 18



inevitable that over time needs have changed and historic local decisions may 
no longer reflect local or national priorities. 

3.5. This system falls well short of the characteristics set out above.  In 
particular:

! It is opaque and extremely complex.  The amount of funding a school 
receives is dependent on a series of decisions taken at different levels in 
the system over a long period of time.  In particular, it is heavily based on a 
historic assessment of needs, going back to 2005-06 and earlier, which is 
unlikely to be up to date or reflect the current needs of children in the 
school.  The system is very difficult to explain; in addition to the national 
complexity, each local authority has a funding formula which is often very 
detailed. A series of minimum funding guarantees has also locked in 
previous funding levels for schools that do not reflect current need. The 
way that schools are funded under the spend-plus system makes it almost 
impossible to explain to parents why their children’s education is funded at 
the level it is. 

! It is unfair as it leads to schools with similar intakes receiving very 
different levels of funding. In any school funding system, we would 
expect to see some variation in budgets due to different needs. However 
the current variation cannot be explained by needs, or by local decisions. 
Schools in very similar circumstances can currently get vastly different 
levels of funding for no clearly explicable reason.  Funding between 
comparable secondary schools can vary by £1,800 per pupil: across a 
1,000 pupil school that means that the lower funded school receives £1.8 
million less funding per year. 

! It fails to reflect need accurately. Additional funding relating to additional 
need varies widely. For instance, the amount of additional funding targeted 
at deprived children varies significantly, due to how deprivation funding is 
distributed to local authorities and variable local policies on passing it on. 
Furthermore, the funding system does not respond to changes in needs or 
pupil characteristics. Some areas are now woefully underfunded compared 
with how they would be if the system reflected need properly, whereas 
some areas continue to receive funding to which they should no longer be 
entitled.

! It does not support the new school system.  The methodology for 
funding Academies was devised at a time when Academies were expected 
to form only a small proportion of the total number of schools.  It is not 
suitable for a system where the number of Academies is growing rapidly.  
In particular, it is not possible, under the current system, to deliver 
transparent and absolutely comparable funding for maintained schools, 
Academies and Free Schools and this creates perverse incentives in the 
system for new providers considering setting up schools or for schools 
considering opting for Academy status.  Chains of Academies see very 
different levels of funding for their schools in different local authority areas 
even though they can see that the schools face similar challenges. 

4Page 19



3.6. The annex contains further detailed analysis demonstrating these flaws 
in the current system. 

3.7. These substantial flaws mean we need to give strong consideration 
to reforming the school funding system. 

3. Do you agree with the analysis of how the current system falls short 
of these aims? 

4. Do you agree with the case for reforming the system? 

2. Are there further characteristics the system should have? 

1. Do you agree with the stated characteristics of an ideal school 
funding system? 

Questions for consultation 

4. The Pupil Premium

4.1. The introduction of the pupil premium is our first step towards a fair 
funding system.  It ensures that every disadvantaged child (currently defined 
for these purposes as a child known to be eligible for free school meals or who 
has been looked after for six months or more) attracts additional funding for 
their school, and will enable the school to provide them with the additional 
support they need to help them reach their potential.  In 2011-12, the premium 
will be worth £430 per child; with the total value of the premium being 
£625million.  By 2014-15, the premium will have risen in total to £2.5billion.  As 
the total spent on the premium grows, we expect both to increase the number 
of children eligible for the premium and the amount paid for each child. 

4.2. The premium is clear and transparent in the way it delivers additional 
funding for every deprived pupil.  However, the underlying school funding 
system is neither clear nor transparent. Significant weighting is given to 
deprivation in the current funding system, but it is not transparent how that 
funding follows pupils, and the amount per child varies from school to school 
and from area to area.  Therefore, outside of the pupil premium, the total level 
of funding for deprived children is neither identifiable nor consistent across all 
schools.

4.3. The pupil premium moves us closer to achieving our aim of ensuring 
that all deprived pupils have the same level of funding for their education, 
wherever they live in the country. It will continue as clear and additional funding 
for at least the period of the current Spending Review. However, improvements 
to the current funding system would enable the Government to deliver on this 
aim more effectively. 

5Page 20



6. Do you agree the underlying funding formula needs to change to 
meet this aim more quickly and effectively? 

5. Do you agree that the aim of ensuring all deprived pupils get the 
same level of funding no matter where they live is the right one? 

Questions for consultation 

5. A Fair Funding Formula 

5.1. In the White Paper, the Government set out its long term ambition for a 
fair, national funding formula.  A fair funding formula would lead to clear and 
transparent funding for primary and secondary maintained schools and 
Academies.  It would give a clear national basis for funding schools and for 
providing the money to meet the needs of different groups of children.  It would 
not mean that every school received the same level of funding. We believe it is 
right that different pupils should attract different amounts of funding dependent 
on their circumstances.  That is one of the reasons why we have introduced 
the pupil premium.  But it would ensure that schools serving similar intakes 
would receive similar levels of funding; and new providers would know what 
funding to expect since there would be complete clarity about the funding they 
would receive. 

5.2. A key issue in any reform of the school funding system will be who takes 
decisions about the level of funding for individual schools.  Even within a 
transparent, overarching, fair funding formula there could be locally agreed 
decisions to vary the level of funding to meet particular circumstances.

5.3. A fair funding formula could involve all schools’ budgets being set 
according to that formula. However, a fair funding formula could also operate 
so that it stated a national expectation of the funding for schools and set the 
aggregate level of funding for maintained schools within each authority, but 
allowed local authorities – in consultation or agreement with the schools they 
maintain – to vary the actual budgets to meet local circumstances or locally 
agreed priorities.  Such flexibility for local authorities could be limited to 
particular circumstances or a particular proportion of the budget, or it might be 
unconstrained.

5.4. The advantage of using a national formula to set schools’ budgets is 
that it would be the clearest and simplest; and would guarantee comparability 
of funding between individual schools, whether in different parts of the country 
or between maintained schools and Academies or Free Schools in the same 
area.  However, it would not enable funding levels to be varied to reflect 
particular local circumstances. 

5.5. A system which allowed local flexibility would enable funding to be more 
responsive to particular local circumstances.  And because overall local 
funding levels would be set in accordance with a consistent fair formula, there 
would be clear accountability for the decisions taken by central and local 
government.  Such a system would, as now, enable similar schools to receive 

6Page 21



different levels of funding.  It would also raise questions about the funding of 
Academies and Free Schools, since we would need to decide whether their 
funding should also be affected by that local flexibility. If it is, then their funding 
would be subject to the decisions of the local authority, which would be both 
inconsistent with their independence and would require us to develop a more 
manageable system than the current one. If it is not, and their funding was set 
by the fair formula, then it would vary from that of local schools with similar 
intakes.  This would risk perverse incentives for schools considering Academy 
status or for potential promoters of Free Schools, for instance to set up in 
areas where the funding was more favourable. 

9. If there is local flexibility, what should the roles of local authorities, 
schools and the Schools Forum be in decision making? 

10. If there is local flexibility for maintained schools, how should 
Academies and Free Schools be funded?

Questions for consultation 

7. Do you think the school funding system should be based on a 
purely national formula? Or should there be flexibility for local 
decisions about funding levels?

8. If so, should that flexibility be limited, and if so how? 

6. The role of local authorities

6.1. The majority of school funding is delegated to individual schools; but 
some funding is retained by local authorities.  There is no set national definition 
of the balance of funding between what is delegated and what is retained 
centrally; nor of all the functions that should be delegated to schools and those 
that should be retained by local authorities. 

6.2. If we move to a fair funding formula, with or without local flexibility, it will 
be necessary to have a clear divide between these responsibilities and the 
funding for them. Every school and authority would be funded in the same way 
regarding these responsibilities, despite their current different arrangements. 
There would likely be freedom for schools to decide to continue to operate 
particular functions through the local authority or otherwise. 

6.3. The next two sections discuss the funding for two of the key areas that 
need handling outside of a national funding formula for schools - ‘High Cost’ 
pupils and nursery provision.

7. ‘High Cost’ Pupils including children with special educational 
needs

7.1.  A fair funding formula for mainstream schools should be able to meet 
the needs of most pupils, including the majority of children with special 

7Page 22



educational needs who are educated in mainstream schools.  These pupils’ 
needs are met from schools’ delegated budgets at present. 

7.2. However, we recognise that there are many pupils whose needs are 
particularly costly to meet: some of these are in mainstream schools, some in 
maintained and non-maintained special schools, and some in alternative 
provision.  These would not be readily fundable through a formulaic approach, 
and we therefore recognise a need for local authorities to have a substantial 
pot of money for high cost pupils outside the fair funding formula.

7.3. For our second consultation, we will work up proposals for how this pot 
of money will work.  There are a number of important issues to be addressed, 
including how to distinguish between low cost needs covered by the formula 
and high cost needs; how to establish the budget for high cost pupils and 
divide it among local authorities; how to promote personal budgets as 
promised in the recent Green Paper Support and aspiration: a new approach 
to special educational needs and disability; and whether there is a case for 
some degree of formulaic funding for high cost providers, while recognising 
that this will never be able to address all individual needs.  

7.4.  The recently published Green Paper posed three specific questions 
about funding for SEN.  In order that views on these can be taken into account 
in the second stage consultation of the review on school funding, we would like 
to take the opportunity to ask the same questions in this first stage consultation.   

7.5. Funding for SEN support services: These are currently managed and 
funded by local authorities, but funding has also been included for them in the 
budgets of Academies. We need to reach a sustainable, affordable solution for 
funding them so that schools, Academies, Free Schools and other providers all 
have access to high quality support services, and responsibility for providing 
and funding services is clear. 

7.6. Banded funding framework: We proposed to explore a national 
banded framework for funding high-cost provision for children and young 
people with SEN or who are disabled, in addition to what is normally available 
in schools.  This could improve parents’ experience of the assessment process 
and make funding decisions more transparent to them. Such a framework 
might set out high-level descriptions of the different types of provision for 
children with more severe and complex SEN or who are disabled, including, for 
example, additional curriculum support, therapy services, physical 
requirements, equipment, home-to-school transport, and family support 
(including short breaks). 

7.7. The framework would not, however, determine the financial tariff 
associated with a particular type of need. This is because it is not the case that 
any one child with a particular category of need, for example autistic spectrum 
disorder, will require exactly the same support as another child with the same 
category of need.  We consider that any national banded funding framework 
should continue to allow local leaders the flexibility to determine the levels of 
funding to be associated with each level and type of provision and, therefore, 

8Page 23



to put in place personalised packages of support for children, young people 
and families. 

7.8.  Alignment of funding across the age range: We also committed to 
exploring ways in which we can bring about greater alignment of the different 
funding streams for children and young people with SEN, or who are disabled, 
from birth to 25.  At present, there are separate systems of funding provision 
for these children and young people pre-16 and post-16. There are also three 
different funding streams for learners with learning difficulties and disabilities 
post-16.

13. How can the different funding arrangements for specialist 
provision for young people pre-16 and post-16 be aligned more 
effectively to provide a more consistent approach to support for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled from birth to 
25?

12. How do you think a national banded funding framework for 
children and young people with SEN or who are disabled could 
improve the transparency of funding decisions to parents while 
continuing to allow for local flexibility? 

11. How do you think SEN support services might be funded so that 
schools, Academies, Free Schools and other education providers have 
access to high quality SEN support services? 

Questions for consultation 

8. Early years funding

8.1.  Every three and four year old is entitled to 15 hours a week of free early 
education. These hours can be taken in the maintained sector as well as the 
private, voluntary and independent sector. The funding for free early education 
is included within the overall school funding system, with local authorities 
responsible for funding providers. The level of funding for early years varies 
from local authority to local authority, both because of the national distribution 
of funding and because of local decisions about the balance of funding 
between early years and older children. Around a half of free early education 
for three and four year olds is delivered in schools. 

8.2. All local authorities have recently introduced the early years single 
funding formula (EYSFF). The EYSFF has been intended to increase 
transparency in how providers are funded in each local authority, as well as 
bringing greater efficiency through funding on levels of participation and not on 
capacity. The EYSFF was also intended, through use of financial incentives, to 
support local authority action to maximise the impact of free early education in 
tackling disadvantage, increasing the quality of provision and enhancing 
flexibility for parents. 

9Page 24



8.3. Feedback on the introduction of the EYSFF has been mixed. There is 
greater transparency than previously on early education funding, and 
participation funding has brought a greater focus on participation levels. 
However, there have been some suggestions that formulae used in the EYSFF 
pathfinder LAs were more complex than perhaps was necessary. Additionally, 
whilst the EYSFF has increased awareness of tackling disadvantage, the 
quality of provision and the importance of flexibility, it is not clear how effective 
funding supplements have been in incentivising providers. There are also 
differences in funding rates paid to providers across the country. Some argue 
these differences are unfair; others say that they reflect different circumstances 
in local childcare markets.  

8.4. If a fair funding formula is introduced for reception to year 11 provision, 
there will obviously be implications for how free early education funding will 
operate. The relationship between free early education funding and the fair 
funding formula, as well as how early education funding is distributed, will need 
to be clarified. 

14. How successfully has the EYSFF been implemented? How might it 
be improved? 

15. How important is an element of local flexibility in free early 
education funding? What might alternative approaches look like? 

16. How should we identify the total amount of funding for early years 
and free early education for three year olds and four year olds not in 
reception from within the overall amount of 3-16 funding? 

Questions for consultation 

9. Elements of a fair funding formula

9.1. Any school funding formula consists of direct and proxy indicators that 
attempt to measure the needs of different children.  Following this first part of 
the consultation process on a fair funding formula, we would expect to consult 
in more detail on possible indicators and the balance between them.  However, 
there are some key principles on which we are seeking views now. 

9.2. Pupil vs school characteristics?  A school funding formula would be 
largely based on pupil-led factors, such as the number of pupils and the 
number of pupils from deprived backgrounds.  However, it could also contain 
factors based on the characteristics of the school itself, such as funding based 
on the floor area of the school; or additional funding to support small schools. 

9.3. A formula which takes into account the characteristics of a school in 
addition to just the characteristics of the pupils in the school may be better able 
to reflect the cost of existing provision.  However, it would be less supportive of 
entry of new providers into the system and risks solidifying the current pattern 
of provision.  It also does not encourage greater efficiency as it can protect less 

10Page 25



cost effective provision and create disincentives to moving to more efficient 
organisation.

9.4. Our view, therefore, is that the formula should be based on pupil 
characteristics, with the probable exception of some mechanism to support 
small schools.  This mechanism might, for example, be a lump sum element for 
all primary schools. 

9.5. What pupil factors should a formula contain?  The Government is 
clear that any formula should include a basic per pupil amount for all pupils 
(this will be higher for secondary pupils than for primary) plus extra funding per 
deprived child. The pupil premium will also continue to provide additional 
funding. It is our long term aim for the pupil premium to be fully integrated 
within the fair funding formula, and to be the vehicle for clear and transparent 
distribution of all deprivation funding. 

9.6. However, there may be other needs that a formula should take into 
account.  These might include additional funding to recognise different labour 
costs in different areas (the ‘area cost adjustment’); other geographical factors 
such as rurality; funding for children for whom English is not their first 
language; underperforming ethnic groups; other proxy measures for additional 
or special educational needs; and incentives or rewards for improved 
performance.

9.7. Complexity vs simplicity.  The simpler a formula, the clearer and more 
easily understandable it will be.  That means it should be clearer to parents 
and schools why they receive the funding they do, and it will be clearer to 
potential promoters of new schools what funding they will receive.  However, a 
very simple formula may be less accurate at addressing the differing needs of 
schools and pupils.

19. What is the right balance between simplicity and complexity?

18. What factors should be included? 

17. Should the formula include only pupil led factors or also school led 
factors?

Questions for consultation

10. How should we manage the transition to a new funding system?

10.1. The Government has protected school funding overall at the same cash 
level per pupil for the Spending Review period, with the pupil premium in 
addition to that.  As demonstrated in the annex, the current funding system 
delivers very different levels of funding to schools with similar characteristics 
and similar intakes – in a way that goes beyond local choice.  That is both 
unfair and inefficient.  A fair funding formula would remedy that situation.  But, 
by definition, that means that as we move to a fair funding formula, some 

11Page 26



schools will see their budgets reducing relatively whilst others see them 
increasing.  This levelling of funding to schools in similar circumstances must 
be right, but it could cause difficulties for those schools most affected and will 
need to be managed carefully. 

10.2. We would expect, therefore, to implement any move to a fair funding 
formula with significant protection arrangements.  These would be likely to set 
a maximum level of reduction in budget per pupil any school would receive 
each year; and to pay for this by constraining the level of increase any school 
could receive.  These are called floors and ceilings. 

10.3. We also think that the more notice we can give schools of changes to 
their budgets, the more able they will be to cope with those changes.  There 
may, therefore, be a case for setting very tight floors and ceilings (ie so no 
school sees large changes to its budget) in the first years of introduction of a 
fair funding formula, but to allow greater fluctuations over time with schools 
notified of these well in advance.  For the current Spending Review period at 
least, we expect the pupil premium to operate outside these transitional 
arrangements, so every school would receive the full value of the premium, 
clearly in addition to the rest of their budget. 

10.4. There is also the question of when to begin movement to a fair funding 
formula.  In the current fiscal climate, with school funding protected but not 
seeing large increases, there is an argument for delaying the introduction of a 
fair funding formula until we can afford additional funding to help pay for 
transitional arrangements.  On the other hand, the current inequitable 
distribution of funding is inefficient, and it is more important now than ever to 
ensure we are getting maximum value for every pound of public money we 
spend.  Schools with relatively higher levels of funding per pupil are likely to be 
comparatively more able to make efficiencies.

20. What level of change in budgets per year can schools manage? 

21. How much time do schools need to plan for changes in their 
funding?

22. When is the right time to start moving towards a fair funding 
formula?

Questions for consultation

11. Next steps

11.1. This document is the first stage in our public consultation on a fair 
funding formula.  We would welcome comments on the questions asked and 
on other aspects of the school funding system by 25th May. 

12Page 27



11.2. In the interim, we will continue to discuss reforms to the system with 
partner organisations.  We will then consider responses to this document, 
before publishing the next stage of the consultation later in early summer. 

11.3. Consultation responses can be completed: 

! online at www.education.gov.uk/consultations/

! by emailing schoolfunding.consultation@education.gsi.gov.uk

! or by downloading a response form which should be completed and 
sent to: 

Ian McVicar 
Funding Policy and Efficiency Team 
Department for Education
Level 4 
Sanctuary Buildings
Great Smith Street
London
SW1P 3BT 

13Page 28



Annex – Problems with the current school funding system

The current funding system is difficult to understand

The current school funding system is based on an assessment of pupil need 
that was made in 2005-06. Funding levels are a mixture of formula results, 
historical protections, and a multitude of different grants. Complexity exists 
both nationally, through the way the Dedicated Schools Grant is calculated, 
and locally, through different local authority formulae.

Local complexity

There are 152 local authorities in England and each local authority has its own 
formula for calculating school funding. Each formula takes into account 
different factors and apportions different percentages of funding to each factor. 
This can mean that different factors, such as site specific factors, attract 
varying levels of funding in each local authority. For example, in one local 
authority, site specific factors (pupil-led) constitute 12% of a school’s budget 
share, whereas in a different local authority that has similar pupil 
characteristics, site specific factors (pupil-led) constitute only 3% of a school’s 
budget share.

The minimum funding guarantee 

The minimum funding guarantee (MFG) adds an additional layer of complexity 
to the system. It was introduced as a protection to school budgets which 
guaranteed increases or limited decreases in funding and therefore provided 
stability. However, the way in which the MFG operates alongside the current 
spend-plus system can prevent the local formula from working properly and, 
therefore, can be seen as partly responsible for locking in historical differences 
and creating opacity in the system. In 2010-11, 5,255 schools (nursery, primary, 
secondary and special) were on the MFG. 26% of all primary schools were on 
the MFG and 17% of all secondary schools were. For 550 out of the 5,255 
schools, the MFG represents over 5% of their budgets (not including grants). 
This means that in a significant number of schools and local authorities, the 
local formula is not able to distribute funding in the way in which it intended.   

The way that schools are funded under the spend-plus system, makes it 
almost impossible to explain to parents why their children’s education is funded 
at the level it is.

14Page 29



Funding variations in the system

Schools with similar characteristics receive varying levels of funds 

In any school funding system, we would expect some variation in the amounts 
that schools receive by taking into account different measures such as 
deprivation and English as Additional Language (EAL). However, none of 
these factors can explain the variation we currently observe. 

We can look at groups of schools with similar characteristics and similar pupil 
intakes and see how much their funding levels vary. The following graphs show 
primary and secondary schools with similar characteristics. 

Primary schools 

In a fair funding system, you might expect similar primary schools to receive a 
similar level of funding, i.e. for the graph to show a flat line.  However, what the 
graph in fact shows is a large variation in funding between the similar schools 
chosen; ranging from around £3,400 per pupil to over £4,700.  That difference, 
in a 150 pupil school, is equal to a total of over £195,000 and could pay for 5 
extra teachers. 

2010-11 budget share plus grants per pupil* for a selection of similar 
primary schools 

*ACA deflated to ensure comparability 

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

B
u

d
g

e
t 

S
h

a
re

 P
lu

s
 G

ra
n

ts
 P

e
r 

P
u

p
il
 A

C
A

 D
e

fl
a

te
d

187 Pupils 

26.44% FSM 

10.16% EAL 

19.25% SEN

174 Pupils

21.30% FSM

7.80% EAL

18.44% SEN

101 Pupils

28.75% FSM

9.21% EAL

18.91% SEN

Phase Primary

Region Outside London

Size 100-200

FSM% 25-35%

EAL% 6-15%

SEN% 13-21%

Source: Section 251 2010-11 Budget Table 2 as of 06/01/11 and Annual School Census January 2010 

15Page 30



Secondary schools 

In a fair funding system, you also might expect similar secondary schools to 
receive a similar level of funding. However, this graph also shows that there is 
a large variation in funding between similar schools; ranging from under £4,200 
per pupil to over £6,000.  That difference, in a 1000 pupil school, is equal to a 
total of over £1.8m and could pay for 41 extra teachers. 

2010-11 budget share plus grants per pupil* for a selection of similar 
secondary schools without 6th form 

*ACA deflated to ensure comparability 

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

£6,000

£7,000

B
u

d
g

e
t 

S
h

a
re

 P
lu

s
 G

ra
n

ts
 P

e
r 

P
u

p
il

 A
C

A
 D

e
fl

a
te

d 887 Pupils

19.17% FSM

6.13% EAL

14.77% SEN

770 Pupils

12.50% FSM

8.06% EAL

20.26% SEN

1039 Pupils

9.64% FSM

5.88% EAL

19.63% SEN

1220 Pupils

10.49% FSM

7.16% EAL

19.51% SEN

Phase Secondary

Region All regions

Size 750-1250

FSM% 9% - 21%

EAL% 3% - 9%

SEN% 9% - 21%

Source: Section 251 2010-11 Budget Table 2 as of 06/01/11 and Annual School Census January 2010 

When variations of funding between schools occur it is very difficult to explain, 
to parents of children at the lower funded school, why their children’s education 
is funded at the level it is. Sometimes it is hard to justify the level of funding 
one school receives in comparison to another similar school, either nearby or 
elsewhere in the country. 

16Page 31



Funding fails to reflect needs accurately

Schools with higher levels of deprivation can receive less money per pupil than 
schools with lower levels of deprivation 

The following graph shows examples of schools with low numbers of deprived 
pupils in highly deprived areas, receiving a greater amount of funding per pupil 
than schools with high numbers of deprived pupils in areas with both low and 
medium levels of deprivation overall. This means for example that a school 
with 43% of pupils eligible for FSM can receive £665 less funding per pupil 
than a school with 10% of pupils eligible for FSM (circled on the graph). This is 
caused by a combination of national and local factors – both the way the 
authorities have been funded and the way the authorities are funding schools. 

Variation in 2010-11 budget share plus grants* between medium size 
primary schools in local authorities with high, medium and low levels of 

pupils on FSM (without pupil led SEN funding) 
*ACA deflated to ensure comparability 

£4,197
£4,053

£3,717

£3,367

£3,725

£5,639

£4,411

£3,318

£3,037
£2,966

£3,169

£4,032

£4,264

£3,485
£3,359

£3,116

£3,522
£3,517

£0

£1,000

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

£6,000

Low FSM LA Low FSM LA Med FSM LA Med FSM LA High FSM LA High FSM LA

Local Authority Free School Meal Percentage

B
u

d
g

e
t 

S
h

a
re

 P
lu

s
 G

ra
n

ts
 P

e
r 

P
u

p
il
 A

C
A

 D
e
fl

a
te

d

5%

58%

6%

11%

43%

16%

46%

8%

16%

43%

6%

22%

43%

10%

33%

16%

33%

46%

8% 12% 21% 33%23% 32%

Each bar on the graph represents an individual school, with the 
percentage on each of the bars indicating the proportion of pupils 
eligible for FSM within the school. These schools are from local 
authorities that have low, medium and high proportions of pupils 
eligible for FSM, indicated by the labels on the x-axis. For 
instance, the two schools circled have 43% and 10% FSM, and 
are in local authorities with 12% and 33% FSM respectively.  

Source: Section 251 2010-11 Budget Table 2 as of 06/01/11 and Annual School Census January 2010 

17Page 32



Deprivation funding is not universally well-targeted 

There is significant deprivation funding in the current spend-plus system. 
However, it is not always well targeted and different local authorities have 
different methods of targeting this funding. 

The graph below shows the funding that each local authority allocates for 
deprived pupils. There is significant variation reflecting local decisions but 
lower funded authorities tend to allocate higher levels of funding to their 
deprived pupils. Under the current system, the amount of funding that a 
deprived pupil receives is dependent on the local authority in which they are 
educated – both because of local decisions and the way local authorities are 
funded nationally.

A fair funding formula, alongside the pupil premium, would mean deprived 
pupils receive comparable levels of funding wherever they are. 

Local authorities by percentage of secondary pupils eligible for FSM 
against extra funding allocated locally per deprived pupil

£0

£1,000

£2,000

£3,000

£4,000

£5,000

£6,000

£7,000

£8,000

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Percentage of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals

P
e

r 
F

S
M

 P
u

p
il

 A
m

o
u

n
t

Source: Academic Year 11/12 Free School Ready Reckoner Tool based on analysis on Financial Year 10-11 Data 
from S251. FSM data from Annual School Census 2010. 

18Page 33



The system does not respond to changing pupil characteristics

The current system is based on an assessment of need in 2005. The nature of 
the system means that historical differences are locked in which, in turn, 
means that it is unable to respond properly to changing characteristics at a 
local level. 

All regions primary and secondary school change in FSM and EAL 
between 2005 and 20101,2

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

E
N

G
L
A

N
D

N
O

R
T

H
 E

A
S

T

N
O

R
T

H
 W

E
S

T

Y
O

R
K

S
H

IR
E

 A
N

D
 T

H
E

H
U

M
B

E
R

E
A

S
T

 M
ID

L
A

N
D

S

W
E

S
T

 M
ID

L
A

N
D

S

E
A

S
T

 O
F

 E
N

G
L
A

N
D

L
O

N
D

O
N

IN
N

E
R

 L
O

N
D

O
N

O
U

T
E

R
 L

O
N

D
O

N

S
O

U
T

H
 E

A
S

T

S
O

U
T

H
 W

E
S

T

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 P

o
in

t 
C

h
a
n

g
e

FSM

EAL

From the graph, we can see that since 2005 all regions have experienced 
changes in the number of pupils on Free School Meals and the number of 
pupils with English as an Additional Language (EAL). Local authorities that 
have seen increases in these pupil numbers will not have received any 
additional funding (or had their funding relatively reduced) to reflect these 
changes (before the pupil premium). A responsive system would reflect these 
changing characteristics. 

1 The underlying pupil characteristics used in setting the Guaranteed Units of Funding for 2005 
used the most up to date pupil characteristics data available at the time. The information used 
for FSM and EAL in this, and subsequent pupil characteristics graphs, has been taken from 
2004 and 2010 pupil characteristics. However, in this document it will be referred to as 2005 
pupil characteristics as the funding levels were set for 2005 using this data.   
2

Source: Statistical First Release 2004 and 2010 – Schools, Pupils and their Characteristics

19Page 34



The below graph shows that the West Midlands is an example of a region 
where both FSM and EAL have increased since 2005 in all but two local 
authorities. The funding system does not reflect the current level of need in this 
region.

West Midlands primary and secondary school change in FSM and EAL 
between 2005 and 20102,

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

W
E

S
T

 M
ID

L
A

N
D

S

B
ir
m

in
g
h
a
m

C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

D
u
d

le
y

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

S
a
n
d
w

e
ll

S
h
ro

p
s
h
ir
e

S
o

lih
u
ll

S
ta

ff
o

rd
s
h
ir
e

S
to

k
e

 o
n
 T

re
n
t

T
e
lf
o
rd

 a
n
d
 W

re
k
in

W
a

ls
a
ll

W
a
rw

ic
k
s
h
ir
e

W
o
lv

e
rh

a
m

p
to

n

W
o

rc
e
s
te

rs
h

ir
e

P
e

rc
e
n

ta
g

e
 P

o
in

t 
C

h
a

n
g

e

FSM

EAL

In contrast to the West Midlands, Inner London has seen both increases and 
decreases in the percentage of pupils with EAL and on FSM since 2005. 
These changes will not be reflected in the funding system.

Inner London primary and secondary change in FSM and EAL between 
2005 and 20102,

-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

IN
N

E
R

 L
O

N
D

O
N

C
a

m
d
e
n

H
a

c
k
n
e

y

H
a
m

m
e
rs

m
it
h
 a

n
d

 F
u
lh

a
m

H
a
ri
n
g
e

y

Is
lin

g
to

n

K
e
n
s
in

g
to

n
 a

n
d
 C

h
e
ls

e
a

L
a
m

b
e
th

L
e
w

is
h
a
m

N
e
w

h
a
m

S
o
u

th
w

a
rk

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a

m
le

ts

W
a
n
d
s
w

o
rt

h

W
e
s
tm

in
s
te

r

P
e

rc
e
n

ta
g

e
 P

o
in

t 
C

h
a

n
g

e

FSM

EAL

20Page 35



21

The ability for local authorities to cope with changing circumstances under the 
spend-plus system is varied. For example: 

! In a West Midlands local authority, EAL increased by 7.91%, and FSM 
increased by 1% 

! An Inner London local authority experienced a 6.84% decrease in FSM 
and only a 1.41% rise in EAL. 

From these examples we could expect that the Inner London authority may 
have some capacity to cope with the relatively small rise in EAL due to the 
decrease in FSM. However, the West Midlands authority may not have the 
capacity to cope with both the rise in FSM and EAL.

If the data was updated to reflect current need, most local authorities would 
see a change in their funding levels. 

Page 36



© Crown copyright 2011 

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any 

format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. 

To view this licence, 

visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ 

or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Where we have identi#ed any third party copyright information you will need to 

obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



A consultation on school 
funding reform: rationale 

and principles 
Consultation Response Form 

The closing date for this consultation is: 

25 May 2011 

Your comments must reach us by that date. 

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1

Page 39



THIS FORM IS NOT INTERACTIVE. If you wish to respond electronically please 

use the online response facility available on the Department for Education e-

consultation website (http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations). 

 

The information you provide in your response will be subject to the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations, which allow public 

access to information held by the Department. This does not necessarily mean that 

your response can be made available to the public as there are exemptions relating to 

information provided in confidence and information to which the Data Protection Act 

1998 applies. You may request confidentiality by ticking the box provided, but you 

should note that neither this, nor an automatically-generated e-mail confidentiality 

statement, will necessarily exclude the public right of access. 

Please tick if you want us to keep your response confidential.

Name 
 

Organisation (if applicable) 
 

Address: 

 

If you have an enquiry related to the policy content of the consultation you can 

contact either 

Juliet Yates on: Telephone: 020 7340 8313    e-mail: juliet.yates@education.gsi.gov.uk, 

or 

Ian McVicar on: Telephone: 020 7340 7980    e-mail: ian.mcvicar@education.gsi.gov.uk 

If your enquiry is related to the DfE e-consultation website or the consultation process 

in general, you can contact the Consultation Unit by e-mail: 

consultation.unit@education.gsi.gov.uk, by Fax: 01928 794 311, or by telephone: 0870 

000 2288. 

Page 40



Please tick the box that best describes you as a respondent. 

 
School 

 
Schools Forum 

 
Governor Association 

 
Teacher 

 

Local Authority 

Group  
Individual Local Authority 

 

Teacher 

Association  

Other Trade Union / 

Professional Body  
Early Years Setting 

 
Campaign Group 

 
Parent / Carer 

 
Other 

 

 

If ‘Other’ Please Specify: 

 

 

 

Page 41



1. Do you agree with the stated characteristics of an ideal school funding 
system? (Section 2) 

  
 All 

 
 Some 

 
 None 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

2. Are there further characteristics the system should have? (Section 2) 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

If ‘Yes’, what are they? 

 

 

Page 42



3. Do you agree with the analysis of how the current system falls short of these 
aims? (Section 3) 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

4. Do you agree with the case for reforming the system? 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

Page 43



5. Do you agree that the aim of ensuring all deprived pupils get the same level of 
funding no matter where they live is the right one? (Section 4) 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

6. Do you agree the underlying funding formula needs to change to meet this aim 
more quickly and effectively?  

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

Page 44



7. Do you think the school funding system should be based on a purely national 
formula? Or should there be flexibility for local decisions about funding levels? 
(Section 5) 

 
Purely 
National  

Some local 
flexibility  

A lot of local 
flexibility  

Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

8. If so, should that flexibility be limited, and if so how? (Section 5) 

 
 Yes 

 
 No 

 
 Not Sure 

 

 

How? 

 

 

Page 45



9. If there is local flexibility, what should the roles of local authorities, schools 
and the Schools Forum be in decision making? (Sections 5 and 6) 

Local authorities: 

 

 

Schools: 

 

Schools Forum: 

 

 

Comments: 

 

Page 46



10. If there is local flexibility for maintained schools, how should Academies and 
Free Schools be funded? (Section 5) 

 

Through the fair  

funding formula  
Taking into account 
local decisions  

Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

11. How do you think SEN support services might be funded so that schools, 
Academies, Free Schools and other education providers have access to high 
quality SEN support services? (Section 7) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

Page 47



12. How do you think a national banded funding framework for children and 
young people with SEN or who are disabled could improve the transparency of 
funding decisions to parents while continuing to allow for local flexibility? 
(Section 7) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

13. How can the different funding arrangements for specialist provision for young 
people pre-16 and post-16 be aligned more effectively to provide a more 
consistent approach to support for children and young people with SEN or who 
are disabled from birth to 25? (Section 7) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

Page 48



14. How successfully has the EYSFF been implemented? How might it be 
improved? (Section 8) 

 
Very 

 
Fairly 

 
A little 

 
Not at all 

 
Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 
15. How important is an element of local flexibility in free early education 
funding? What might alternative approaches look like? (Section 8) 

 
Very 

 
Fairly 

 
A little 

 
Not at 
all  

Not 
Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

Page 49



16. How should we identify the total amount of funding for early years and free 
early education for three year olds and four year olds not in reception from within 
the overall amount of 3-16 funding? (Section 8) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

17. Should the formula include only pupil led factors or also school led factors? 
(Section 9) 

 
Only pupil-led factors 

 
Include school-led factors 

 
Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

Page 50



18. What factors should be included? (Section 9) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

19. What is the right balance between simplicity and complexity? (Section 9) 

 

Comments: 

 

Page 51



20. What level of change in budgets per year can schools manage? (Section 10) 

 

Comments: 

 

 

21. How much time do schools need to plan for changes in their funding? 
(Section 10) 

 
3 
months  

3 – 6 
months  

6 – 12 
months   

More 
than 1 
year 

 
Not 
Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

Page 52



22. When is the right time to start moving towards a fair funding formula? 
(Section 10) 

 

 
2012 – 
13  

2013 – 
14  

2014 - 
15   

2015 - 
16  

Not 
Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

23.  Have you any further comments? 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 53



Thank you for taking the time to let us have your views. We do not intend to 
acknowledge individual responses unless you place an 'X' in the box below. 

 

Please acknowledge this reply  

 

Here at the Department for Education we carry out our research on many different 
topics and consultations. As your views are valuable to us, would it be alright if we were 
to contact you again from time to time either for research or to send through 
consultation documents? 

 

   Yes       No 

 

All DfE public consultations are required to conform to the following criteria within the 
Government Code of Practice on Consultation: 

Criterion 1: Formal consultation should take place at a stage when there is scope to 
influence the policy outcome. 
 
Criterion 2: Consultations should normally last for at least 12 weeks with consideration 
given to longer timescales where feasible and sensible. 
 
Criterion 3: Consultation documents should be clear about the consultation process, 
what is being proposed, the scope to influence and the expected costs and benefits of 
the proposals. 
 
Criterion 4: Consultation exercises should be designed to be accessible to, and clearly 
targeted at, those people the exercise is intended to reach. 
 
Criterion 5: Keeping the burden of consultation to a minimum is essential if 
consultations are to be effective and if consultees’ buy-in to the process is to be 
obtained. 
 
Criterion 6: Consultation responses should be analysed carefully and clear feedback 
should be provided to participants following the consultation. 
 
Criterion 7: Officials running consultations should seek guidance in how to run an 
effective consultation exercise and share what they have learned from the experience. 

If you have any comments on how DfE consultations are conducted, please contact 
Donna Harrison, DfE Consultation Co-ordinator, tel: 01928 794304 / email: 
donna.harrison@education.gsi.gov.uk 

Page 54



Thank you for taking time to respond to this consultation. 

Completed questionnaires and other responses should be sent to the address shown 
below by 25 May 2011 

Send by e-mail to: schoolfunding.consultation@education.gsi.gov.uk 

Send by post to:  

Ian McVicar 
Funding Policy and Efficiency Team 
4th Floor 
Sanctuary Buildings 
Great Smith Street 
London 
SW1P 3BT  

 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



   

   

ACADEMIES’ PRE-16 FUNDING:  OPTIONS FOR THE 2012/13 ACADEMIC 
YEAR 
 
1. Introduction 
 
In the White Paper, “The Importance of Teaching”, the Government set out its 
long term ambition for a Fair Funding Formula which ensures clear, 
transparent and fairer funding for all schools, including Academies and Free 
Schools, based on the needs of pupils.  
 
The main consultation document “A consultation on school funding reform: 
rationale and principles”  available on the Department for Education e-
consultation website (www.education.gov.uk/consultations) invites views on 
our aims for the school funding system and high level principles for reform, 
including how a Fair Funding Formula might operate.  This could be a national 
funding formula, which would involve all schools budgets being set according 
to a central formula.  Alternatively, it could involve locally agreed decisions to 
vary the level of funding for individual schools to meet particular local 
circumstances. 

The main document also asks for views on when any reform might be 
introduced.  However, if reform is not in place by 2012/13, we believe there is 
a strong case for making changes to the way Academies are funded, in 
advance of changes to the rest of the sector.  This document explains why we 
believe the current model for funding Academies is unsustainable going 
forward and would want to make changes for funding Academies in the 
financial year 2012/13 (FY2012/13).  It sets out the principles behind finding 
an alternative approach and options for doing so.  
 
 
2. The current system 
 
The main school funding consultation document sets out the case for change 
across the sector and sets out the principles which should underpin any 
system funding maintained schools and Academies.  This document does not 
seek to pre-empt decisions informed by the main school funding consultation 
on extent and timing of changes across the school sector.  However, we 
believe it is imperative to make improvements in the way Academies are 
funded from academic year 2012/13 (AY2012/13) and are therefore 
consulting on interim changes here that can be made in advance of wider 
reform.  
 
Academy funding for the AY2011/12 will be made up of the following main 
blocks:  
 

General Annual Grant (GAG): In order to keep to the principle that 
Academies should receive equivalent funding to a similar maintained 
school in the same area, the main portion of an Academy’s funding 
seeks to mirror the local school funding formulae.  An Academy’s 
School Budget Share is the level of funding which would be provided 

Agenda Item 9

Page 57



   

   

through the Local Authority’s (LA’s) funding formula for FY2010/11 if 
the Academy had been a maintained school.  It includes allocations for 
grants, such as the Standards Fund Grant, which have been 
mainstreamed into school and Academy budgets from the FY2010/11.  
For each Academy the Young People’s Learning Agency “replicates” 
the LA funding model, applies it to the Academy’s pupil characteristics 
and adds in any mainstreamed grants.  Funding is based on the 
previous financial year due to the timing of financial information 
available from the Section 251 LA return on which models are based.  
 
LA Central Spend Equivalent Grant (LACSEG).  As independent 
institutions, Academies have to provide services which a Local 
Authority would provide for a maintained school, such as behaviour 
support services, licences and subscriptions, pensions returns and the 
production of financial accounts.  An Academy may choose to buy 
services back from the LA or it can make other arrangements to suit its 
pupils’ needs.  The LACSEG gives Academies funds to provide these 
services, at an equivalent rate to which the LA would have provided the 
services.  It is calculated by the Department for Education using 
financial information supplied by Local Authorities in Section 251 
statistical returns.  Amounts vary substantially between authorities 
because of differences in the way LAs delegate funding to maintained 
schools and can reflect large swings between years as LA funding 
decisions change to reflect changing patterns of provision.  
 
Insurance: As Academies typically have higher insurance costs than 
maintained schools, Academies receive a payment to reflect this.  
 
Pupil Premium: Academies receive the Pupil Premiums for pupils 
known to be eligible for Free School Meals, Service Children and 
Looked After Children in the same way and at the same rate as 
maintained schools.  This is additional to core funding. 
 

Taken as a whole, this adds up to a complicated system that we believe 
needs reform for the following reasons.  
 
The process is not transparent.  The replication models and LACSEG 
models are hard to understand at an Academy and local authority level.  
Funding allocations are based on figures that relate to activities many months 
behind the activity for which an Academy is providing the service to its pupils. 
  
It does not quickly reflect local circumstances.  As pupil characteristics 
change in an Academy - e.g. the number of pupils eligible for free school 
meals or identified with special educational needs - the replication process 
does not ensure that these are reflected in actual funding amounts for the 
year in which the service is now needed.  
 
There is a risk of error during the replication process.  There are risks 
involved, mainly arising from the difficulty of accurately duplicating a local 
authority formula without mistakes that can sometimes lead to significant 

Page 58



   

   

errors in the level of funding allocations, even from very small formula errors. 
 

The process becomes more difficult with an increasing number of 
Academies.  The method of replication was appropriate for a small number of 
Academies, where individual anomalies could be discussed and agreed with a 
local authority. It is not an appropriate mechanism to automatically set funding 
levels for an increasing number of schools.  
 
It is not sustainable.  There are some local authorities which are likely to 
have no maintained secondary schools soon, as they will have all converted 
to Academies.  This would mean that the local authority would have no need 
for a formula for their secondary schools, and therefore there would be no 
formula to replicate. And if all an authority’s schools become Academies, then 
LACSEG will reduce to zero because the local authority would have no need 
for central expenditure on maintained schools. 
 
It is not administratively efficient.  Replication is extremely labour intensive. 
YPLA estimates that an average replication model takes 3-5 days to build but 
may take up to three weeks to verify as further information and clarification is 
sought from a local authority.  This funding system also means additional data 
burdens for Academies. 
 
3. Principles for an alternative funding method 

Our view is that an alternative method for funding Academies in AY2012/13 
would have certain key characteristics. 

It would enable a smooth transition to a new approach across the 
funding system.  This might be a short-term, interim measure to ensure 
stability in the system before we move to a new approach to funding across 
the system, or it might mean some kind of trial approach is required. 
 
It would ensure that funding is equivalent between Academies, free 
schools and maintained schools.  We would want to avoid any option which 
gave a financial advantage or disadvantage to schools wishing to convert to 
Academy status. 

It would be transparent and easy to understand.  If an alternative method 
is implemented, local authorities and Academies must be clear about how 
calculations are made and how funding levels may change. 
 
 
Questions for consultation 

Do you agree with our analysis that the current system is not 
appropriate to fund an increasing number of Academies in a fair and 
transparent way? 

Do you agree with the principles for an alternative method of funding 
Academies in 2012/13? 

Page 59



   

   

Are there other aims we should have for the Academy funding system in 
the absence of cross-system reform, such as a Fair Funding Formula? 

4. School budget share 
 
We think that there are three main options for funding Academies in 2012/13.  
It would be impossible, at this stage, to show the precise impact on actual 
funding levels if we pursued any of the particular options for an individual 
Academy as this would involve detailed modelling work for which the data is 
not currently available. However, we are able to provide an initial assessment 
of the options based on how they would most likely work.  
 
The largest element of an Academy’s funding is the school's core funding, 
known as its delegated school budget share.  This is currently the same as a 
maintained school's current budget share received from the local authority, 
with some small adjustments.  In AY2012/13 we could change how the school 
budget share is calculated for Academies.  
 
The proposals here concentrate on Sponsored Academies and Converter 
Academies.  We will want to consider further whether any changes are 
necessary to the way the budget share for Free Schools is calculated for 
AY2012/13.  We are conscious that as the first Free Schools will open in 
September 2011 and new applications are currently being developed for 
AY2012/13, any interim changes would need to be considered against 
ensuring a necessary degree of certainty going forward for what will be very 
new institutions.  The main consultation document, which is consulting on the 
principles on wider reform, includes Free Schools within its scope for wider 
system reform going forward.  
 
 
Roll Forward.  We would ensure that per pupil funding amounts are kept 
level, rolling forward the per pupil school budget share figures from the 
previous year.  This approach would mirror the Spending Review’s overall 
Schools Budget Settlement for FY2012/13 for maintained schools.  We would 
intend to roll forward the per pupil school budget share that was the basis of 
the calculations for the previous year’s budget, before any transitional 
protection, such as the Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) was applied.  
This consultation does not propose any MFG (or similar) protections next year 
but  our assumption would be that if there were to be any additional protection 
for the maintained sector going forward, this would also be applied to 
Academies.  
 
For Academies that are open before September 2012 we would roll forward 
their per pupil funding for the AY2011/12.  Schools converting to Academy 
status during AY2012/13 would receive their allocation as if they were still a 
maintained school with additions for LACSEG.  
 
It is important to note that this would not mean that Academies would receive 
the same total budget as in the previous year.  This could either increase or 
decrease depending on how pupil numbers fluctuate at an Academy.  

Page 60



   

   

 
An important advantage of this approach is that funding for Academies and 
schools converting to Academy status would be predictable. The main 
drawback is that certain funding levels - such as deprivation funding - would 
remain tied to historical funding levels. However, this would be a relatively 
simple option which could work in the short term.  Academies would also still 
receive Pupil Premium funding relating to their pupils as this is additional to 
core funding.   
 
We believe that the roll forward option would give us a transparent interim 
method of funding Academies in FY2012/13 that maintains the comparability 
between Academies and the maintained sector.  For these reasons, it is our 
preferred option going forward.  
 
A fair funding formula for Academies only.  We would fund Academies 
through a single formula on which we would consult later in the spring.  This 
would be a useful way to trial a Fair Funding Formula for all schools.  
However, funding for Academies would move significantly away from 
comparable maintained schools and therefore does not meet our principle that 
Academies should not have a financial advantage or disadvantage. 
 
Local authority based calculations.  We could require local authorities to 
calculate Academy budgets using formulae they already hold.  This would be 
advantageous in that Academy funding would be calculated on the financial 
year data closest to the academic year going forward and would not be 
lagged in the way it currently.  However it has the disadvantage that 
Academies would receive indicative and final funding allocations later than 
now.  Currently Academies receive indicative funding letters in the December 
in advance of the following September, with final allocations in March.  This 
option would shorten the advanced notice that Academies have of budgets in 
the following year.  Another disadvantage would be that Academies, as 
autonomous institutions, would be more reliant on local authority formulae and 
decisions. 
 
 
Questions for consultation 
 
Do you agree with the broad analysis of how each option might work? 

Which option do you think is the best way of funding Academies in 
2012/13?   

Are there potential advantages and disadvantages in implementing each 
option that we have not considered?  

5. Local authority central spend equivalent grant (LACSEG) 
 
This is additional money for an Academy to cover central services that a local 
authority no longer provides.  This is not a uniform figure nationwide and 
reflects the amount that a local authority spends on particular central services 

Page 61



   

   

on behalf of schools. 
 
Currently there are services and costs funded from a local authority's Schools 
Budget, which form 30% of the total grant.  There are also services and costs 
funded from other local authority sources, which form 70% of the total grant 
nationally.  We will consider how LACSEG calculations should be made in 
FY2012/13, how they could be simplified and how they could reflect changes 
in LA settlement for FY2012/13.  Our assumption is that any changes to 
LACSEG would also apply to Free Schools.  
 
Questions for consultation 
 
Are there changes you think we should consider to the way the local 
authority central spend equivalent grant (LACSEG) is calculated for 
FY2012/13?  
 
What factors would you want us to take into consideration if we were to 
make changes?  
 
 
6. Next steps 
 
This document is part of the first stage in our consultation on changes to the 
schools funding system.  As such, we would welcome comments on the 
questions asked in this document by 25 May 2011 rather than to the usual full 
12 week consultation period.  In the interim, we will continue to discuss the 
options for funding Academies in FY2012/13 with partner organisations. 

Page 62


	Agenda
	4 Comparison of School Allocations 2011/12 with 2010/11
	Comparison of School Allocations 2011/12 with 2010-11 Appendix 1

	6 Proposed Closure of Chestnut Primary School
	7 Schools Financial Value Standard
	8 A Consultation on School Funding Reform:Rationale and Principles
	A Consultation on School Funding Reform:Rationale and Principles Appendix 1

	9 Academies' Pre-16 Funding: Options for the 2012/13 Academic Year

